T2R2 東京科学大学 リサーチリポジトリ Science Tokyo Research Repository

論文 / 著書情報 Article / Book Information

題目(和文)	
Title(English)	A New Resistive Switching Based on Breakdown and Anodic Re- Oxidation of Thin SiO2 at the Interface of CeOx Buffer Layer and Silicon Related Bottom Electrodes
著者(和文)	Mokhammad Sholihul Hadi
Author(English)	Mokhammad Sholihul Hadi
出典(和文)	学位:博士(工学), 学位授与機関:東京工業大学, 報告番号:甲第10340号, 授与年月日:2016年9月20日, 学位の種別:課程博士, 審査員:角嶋 邦之,简井 一生,若林 整,大見 俊一郎,渡辺 正裕
Citation(English)	Degree:, Conferring organization: Tokyo Institute of Technology, Report number:甲第10340号, Conferred date:2016/9/20, Degree Type:Course doctor, Examiner:,,,,
学位種別(和文)	
Type(English)	Doctoral Thesis

Doctoral Thesis

A New Resistive Switching Based on Breakdown and Anodic Re-Oxidation of Thin SiO₂ at the Interface of CeO_x Buffer Layer and Silicon Related Bottom Electrodes

Mokh. Sholihul Hadi 10D53653

A Dissertation Submitted to the Department of Electronics and Applied Physics Interdisciplinary Graduate School of Science and Engineering Tokyo Institute of Technology

> Supervisor: Professor Nobuyuki Sugii Co-supervisor: Professor Hiroshi Iwai

Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to thank my academic supervisor Prof. Nobuyuki Sugii, and Prof. Hiroshi Iwai for all of their dedicated guidance and attentive supports on my studies and life. I am also deeply indebted to Associate Prof. Kuniyuki Kakushima, who intelligently and kindly helps me to overcome many crucial challenges in my laboratory studies through my Ph.D. journey.

Likewise, I am very grateful to Prof. Takeo Hattori, Prof. Kenji Natori, Prof. Kazuo Tsutsui, Prof. Hitoshi Wakabayashi, Prof. Akira Nishiyama, Prof. Yoshinori Kataoka, and Prof. Parhat Ahmet for their fruitful discussion and valuable advices.

I would also like to express my deep gratitude to all of the other research staff and student members in Iwai/Kakushima Laboratory for their help from many aspects and kind friendship. My deep thanks to Mr. Shinichi Kano and Mr. Jin Jisong for their support of my research.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to laboratory secretaries Ms. Akiko Matsumoto, and Ms. Masako Nishizawa for all of their kindest help during my time in Japan.

Lastly, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my wife Farah Elsida, my parents, and all of my family members for their endless love and encouragement throughout my study.

Abstract

Rapid advances in information technology rely on the high performance computer system. As the manufacturing technology of semiconductor devices is moved to smaller and smaller geometries, so does the dimension of all components inside the computer system. Thanks to its smaller dimension of the semiconductor devices, the operation speed of the computer system becomes faster. But a significant performance gap between memory and storage in the recent computer system remains a big issue in the development of the computer system in the near future. Already poor speed performance of a flash memory, as a storage device in a computer system, is a bottleneck. This is because there is a tradeoff between access speed and endurance performance. Thus, finding a new type of memory, so called storage class memory (SCM), is indispensable to replace the role of flash memories in the computer system. The resistive random access memory (ReRAM) is one of the strong candidates as SCM among all emerging memory technologies, owing to its great potential of scaling, low programming voltage and fast speed operation with excellent retention properties. There are, however, some problems on the conventional ReRAM, such as the requirement of forming process to apply a higher voltage than the normal operating voltage condition to initiate the switching and low on/off ratio.

In this thesis, a new type of ReRAM has been proposed in order to solve these problems of the conventional ReRAM technology. A bi-layer high-k and low-k dielectric structure is proposed as the resistive switching medium instead of single oxide layer such as in the conventional MIM structure ReRAM. Bipolar resistive switching characteristics of a CeO_x layer on Si-based bottom electrode (BE) were presented. Owing to the formation of a thin SiO₂ interfacial layer (SiO₂-IL) between the CeO_x layer and BE, the bi-layer structure was formed and the set process was triggered by a local breakdown at the thin SiO₂-IL due to large differences in dielectric constants. Reset process, on the other hand, was obtained by a local anodic oxidation of the breakdown spots due to the high oxygen ion conductivity of the CeO_x layer. Owing to high insulating properties of the SiO₂-IL, a large resistance ratio at high-resistive-state (HRS) to low-resistive-state (LRS) over 10⁶ can be obtained. Moreover, a forming-free feature can be achieved by employing NiSi₂ as a silicon-based BE material.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Introduction	1					
1.1 Background of This Study	1					
1.2 Current Memory Technologies	3					
1.2.1 Static RAM	3					
1.2.2 Dynamic RAM	4					
1.2.3 Flash Memory	6					
1.3 Emerging Researches for Storage Class Memory	9					
1.3.1 Magneto-resistive RAM	9					
1.3.2 Ferroelectric RAM						
1.3.3 Phase Change RAM						
1.3.4 Resistive RAM	13					
1.4 Introduction to Resistive Random Access Memory (ReRAM)	16					
1.4.1 Structure of ReRAM	20					
1.4.2 The Switching Modes of ReRAM	21					
1.4.3 Current Conduction	23					
1.4.4 Forming Process	25					
1.4.5 Retention Time	26					

1.5 Purpose and Organization of This Study	27
1.6 References	31
Chapter 2: Concept Disclosure	37
2.1 Introduction	37
2.2 Proposed Model for New ReRAM	39
2.3 Oxide Material Selection	41
2.4 Parameter for Set Process	45
2.5 Parameter for Reset Process	47
2.6 Device Key Features	49
2.6.1 Switching Speed	49
2.6.2 Endurance	50
2.6.3 Retention Time	51
2.6.4 Device Density	55
2.7 References	61
Chapter 3: Effect of Bottom Electrode Selection On Device Switching	64
Characteristics With CeO _x Buffer Layer	
3.1 Introduction	64
3.2 Device Fabrication Process	65

3.3 Switching Behavior of ReRAM with W BE	67
3.3 Switching Behavior of ReRAM with Ti BE	68
3.4 Switching Behavior of ReRAM with Ni BE	69
3.5Switching Behavior of ReRAM with TiN BE	71
3.6 Summary of This Chapter	73
3.7 References	75
Chapter 4: Bipolar Resistive Switching Characteristics of CeO _x Layer on	77
Si-based Bottom Electrodes	
4.1. Introduction	77
4.2 Device Fabrication Process	78
4.3 Resistive Switching Behavior of Device With p^+ -Si BE	80
4.4 Summary of This Chapter	89
4.5 References	90
Chapter 5: Forming-free Resistive Switching Memory Device with CeO_x	93
Layer on NiSi ₂ BE	
5.1 Introduction	93
5.2 Device Fabrication Process	94
5.3 Resistive Switching Behavior	96

5.4 Resistive Switching Mechanism	100
5.5 CeO _x Thickness Dependent on Set Voltage	102
5.6 Effect of the thin SiO ₂ -IL processes on switching characteristics	106
5. 7 Summary of This Chapter	107
5.8 References	109
Chapter 6: Time Dependent Analysis of W/CeO _x /SiO ₂ /NiSi ₂ ReRAM	111
Structure	
6.1 Introduction	111
6.2 Transient Response Current at Set Process	112
6.3 Transient Response Current at Reset Process	114
6.4 Device Operating Speed Characteristic	118
6.5 Device Endurance Characteristic	119
6.6 Summary of This Chapter	120
6.7 References	121
Chapter 7: Conclusion	122
7.1 Summary of This Thesis	122
7.2 Future Research Recommendation	124

List of Publications and Presentations

128

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Background of This Study

The computer system has been facing a problem of the access-time gap between memory and storage device. As the manufacturing technology of semiconductor devices is moved to smaller and smaller geometries, following the scaling rule, so does the dimension of all components inside the computer system. Thanks to the miniaturization of semiconductor device, the operation speed of CPU logic and access time of cache memory become faster. But a significant performance gap between memory and storage in the recent computer system still remains a big issue in the development of the computer system.



Figure 1.1 Memory hierarchy of conventional computer technology in the recent

generations [1.1]

The poor speed performance of the flash memory, as a storage device in the computer system, limits the speed performance of the computer system. This is because there is a tradeoff between access speed and endurance performance. Thus, finding a new type of memory, so called storage class memory (SCM), is indispensable to mitigate the performance gap in the computer system. This idea of using SCM as a new type of memory in the computer system was proposed by IBM [1.1]. Then SONY also showed the same idea [1.2]. Applying the SCM in the computer system will change the memory hierarchy as shown in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2 CPU and memory hierarchies, before and after using SCM^[1.1]

The SCM application is not restricted to the computer system but also can be used for many other applications such as smart phone, digital music players, flash drive, external hard drive, etc. For the embedded applications, this new type of memory must have high switching speed with low power consumption that is better than the performance of DRAM. For the storage application, it must have high device density at least the same level or higher than that of the flash memory. To fulfil these requirements, a new type non volatile memory is needed to be implemented.

A target memory capacity for SCM is from several GByte to hundreds GByte for the embedded memory application, and several TByte for the storage application. A key of large capacity SCM is shrinking the cell size as small as possible. ReRAM and the other alternatives thus have been getting particular attention to be used as SCM [1.1], owing to their great potential of scaling.

1.2 Current Memory Technologies

1.2.1 Static RAM

SRAM uses bistable latching circuitry to store each bit. Unlike dynamic RAM (DRAM), static RAM (SRAM) does not need to be periodically refreshed. SRAM exhibits data retention, but it is still volatile because the data are eventually lost when the memory is not powered.

A typical SRAM cell is made up of six MOSFETs, as shown in Figure 1.3.

Each bit of the single SRAM cell is stored on four transistors (M1, M2, M3, and M4) that form two cross-coupled inverters. This storage cell has two stable states which are representing the data 0 or 1. Two additional transistors (M5, and M6) are used to access a storage cell during read and write operations. SRAM is more costly and less dense than DRAM and is therefore not used as a high-capacity, memory block such as the main memory of the personal computer. The access time of SRAM is the fastest among various types of memories, typically less than several or one nano seconds, SRAM is used as a cache memory of the processor.



Figure 1.3 Schematic diagram of typical SRAM cell^[1.21]

1.2.2 Dynamic RAM

DRAM stores each bit of data in a separate capacitor embedded nearby transistor within an integrated circuit. The capacitor has two states of either charged or discharged. These two states represent the two values of a bit, known as 0 and 1. The advantage of DRAM is its simpler structure than SRAM. A cell of DRAM is consisted of only one transistor and one capacitor per bit. Figure 1.4 shows an example of a simple DRAM cell array with a four by four cell matrix.



Figure 1.4Typical schematic of four-by-four DRAM matrices

DRAM must be refreshed periodically to prevent data from disappearing. This is because the capacitors will slowly discharge due to a small amount of leakage current of the transistors in the DRAM array. DRAM chip must equip a circuit to refresh all the cells approximately 20 times a second, depending on its capacitance value. Because of this refresh action, it is a dynamic memory as opposed to SRAM and other static memory. As DRAM cells decrease in size, the capacitor must shrink down. Lower capacitance means shorter retention (discharge) time. So it is necessary to refresh the capacitor more often. Increase of capacitance density by either stacked or trench capacitor structure will increase the capacitance, but the power consumption will also increase.

1.2.3 Flash Memory

The flash memory stores information in an array of memory cells composed of floating-gate transistors. In the conventional single-level cell (SLC) memories, each cell stores only one bit of information. Modern flash memory technology has a variation of multi-level cell (MLC) devices, typically triple-level cell (TLC) devices. The devices can store more than one bit per cell by choosing multiple levels of electrical charge injected to the floating gate of each cell.

Figure 1.5 shows the typical structure of flash memory cell. By injecting different amount of electrons into the floating gate, the threshold voltage of MOSFET which can represent different state changes. The issues of the flash memory are trade-offs between high speed, with low power operation and long retention time: high speed with low power requires a smaller charge amount injected to the floating gate from the channel, whereas long retention time requires a large charge amount in the floating gate.



Figure 1.5 Flash memory and its floating gate structure^[1.4]

As feature size of the flash memory cell shrinks, or the number of bits per cell increases, the number of electrons in a single bit should decrease. Eventually, the number of electrons will get too small to be reliably read or stored. Improved signal processing and error correction circuit (ECC) can help, but these carry their own overhead in chip size.

There are two main types of flash memory, NOR and NAND logic gates. In NOR gate type flash memory, each cell connected directly to ground at one end, and the other end connected directly to a bit line. NOR flash acts like a NOR gate: when one of the word lines is pulled up to high level, the corresponding storage transistor acts to pull down the output bit line to low level. On the other hand, NAND flash acts like a NAND gate: several transistors are connected in series, and the bit line is pulled low only if all word lines are pulled high, that is, all the series transistors are ON. Both NOR and NAND type flash memory has an issue of high power consumption because it requires a higher programming voltage of about 12 V.

The NAND type flash memory also has a limitation in programming and erasing process. Although it can be read or programmed a byte or a word at a time, it can only be erased a "block" at a time. To do this, usually all bits in the block must be set to 1. Then on this freshly erased block, any location within that block can be programmed. But, once a bit has been set to 0, it cannot be changed back to 1 unless by erasing the entire block.

Table 1.1 shows a comparison of incumbent memory technologies. There is a significant performance gap between DRAM and flash memory giving a strong suggestion for the implementation of new technology to fill this gap.

	SRAM	DRAM	Flash Memory
Write Time	0.2 ns	<10 ns	1 ms
Erase Time	0.2 ns	<10 ns	0.1 ms
Read Time	0.2 ns	<10 ns	0.1 ms
Retention Time	Voltage dependent	64 ms	10 years
Endurance	>1016	>1016	104
Write Operation Voltage (V)	1	2.5	12
Read Operation Voltage (V)	1	1.8	1.8

Table 1.1 Comparison of DRAM, SRAM and Flash memory [1.4]

1.3 Emerging researches for Storage Class Memory

1.3.1 Magneto-resistive RAM

Data in the magneto-resistive RAM (MRAM) are not stored as an electric charge, but by electrical resistance variation due to magnetic property change. The memory elements are consisted of two ferromagnetic plates and an insulator layer in between, each plate can hold a magnetic field, separated by the thin insulating layer. This structure is called as magnetic tunnel junction (MTJ). One of the two plates is a permanent magnet set to a particular polarity, while the other plate's field can be changed by applying magnetic flux or electrical current to store data.

The reading process is established by measuring the electrical resistance of MTJ. A specific cell is selected by applying voltage to the associated transistor that switches current from a supply line through the cell to ground. If the two plates have the same polarity, the resistance of MTJ is lower that is called as a low resistance state (LRS), while if the two plates are of opposite polarity the resistance increase to high resistance state (HRS).

Due to its high current consumption during a write process, the conventional type writing by magnetic flux, of MRAM cell will have difficulty to be used at high memory densities. For this reason, a new technique is introduced, the spin transfer torque (STT) MRAM as shown in Figure 1.6. STT-MRAM uses polarized electrons to directly torque the magnetic domains. In principle, if the electrons flowing into the ferromagnetic (storage) layer that has to change its spin polarity, this will develop a torque to align the polarity to parallel or anti-parallel of the nearby reference layer. This method lowers the current needed to write the cells, making it about the same level as the read process.



Figure 1.6 Typical STT-MRAM memory cell

However, in practical application achieving low switching current for STT-MRAM is difficult. Its resistance ratio between HRS and LRS, which is about 2 - 3 times is quite low for large memory system, so achieving tight distributions of magneto-resistive switching property is impossible. For the tiny size such as below 50nm, there is a serious problem with high-temperature retention. The conventional

MRAM and the STT-MRAM provides fast latency for switching their magnetic tunneling junction, however, it is difficult to be implemented for high memory capacity at present.

1.3.2 Ferroelectric RAM

Ferroelectric RAM (FeRAM) uses different dielectric polarization to differentiate on-off state. Dielectric polarization is done by applying voltage to the ferroelectric capacitor. After that, on-off state was detected by change of current caused by polarization inversion with applied pulse voltage. Structure of FeRAM is similar to that of DRAM whose paraelectrics capacitors are changed to ferroelectric capacitors [1.4]. Writing is done by applying an electric field across the ferroelectric layer by charging the plates on either side of it, forcing the dielectric polarity into the "up" or "down" orientation, that represent "1" or "0" state.



Figure 1.7 Typical FeRAM memory cell

The main disadvantages of FeRAM are that the storage density is considerably lower than that of other types of RAM. Since FeRAM cannot hold a great amount of data, it would be expensive to implement in the chip used for applications that require a lot of memory.

1.3.3 Phase Change RAM

Phase change RAM (PCRAM) uses the unique behavior of chalcogenide as a phase change matter. A heating element, generally made of TiN, would be used to heat the chalcogenide layer. When the layer is heated and quenched (quickly cooled), the chalcogenide layer will be amorphous and exhibit high resistance. On the other hand, the layer is heated and slowly cooled or held it in its crystallization temperature range for sometimes, the layer will be at a crystalline state and exhibit low resistance, see Figure 1.8. Switching between low-resistance crystalline, and high-resistance amorphous phases, is controlled through power & duration of electrical pulses. On-off state was detected by current through the bottom electrode to top electrode.



Figure 1.8 Typical PRAM structure and its switching mechanism.

The greatest challenge for the PCRAM is its high programming current density $(>10^7 \text{ A/cm}^2)$ and the high density memory integration will be highly unlikely. This requires that the active cell area is much smaller than the driving transistor area to reduce the programming current. This discrepancy has forced the phase-change memory structures to package the heater and sometimes the phase-change material itself into sub-lithographic dimensions. Other challenges are its long-term resistance and threshold voltage drift. The resistance of the amorphous state slowly increases. This severely limits the ability for multi level cell (MLC) operation.

1.3.4 Resistive RAM

The basic structure of resistive RAM (ReRAM) is that a dielectric layer sandwiched between two electrodes, which is normally insulating, can be made to be conductive by applying a voltage. In other words, the resistance of the insulator layer changes from high resistance state (HRS) conventionally known as "0" state to low resistance state (LRS) for "1". ReRAM has a potential to be a front runner among other non-volatile memories. Compared to PRAM, ReRAM operates faster, while comparing to MRAM, it has a simpler, smaller cell structure. Compared to the flash memory, a programming voltage is lower, therefore it can be used in low power applications such as battery operated appliances. Details of ReRAM will be described in the next section.

Figure 1.9 shows a trend of emerging non volatile memories after [1.1], in terms of scaling limit. As mentioned earlier, high memory cell density is required for the SCM application. Based on this trend, only ReRAM and PRAM has a strong potential that can have a comparable memory density to NAND flash as a future storage class memory. Due to its strong potential as an SCM candidate, the number of research about ReRAM is growing year by year, as shown in Table 1.2.



Figure 1.9. Scaling trend of emerging memory candidates for SCM^[1.1]

Table 1.2. Trends of published article about ReRAM in IEEE journals and proceedings

Year	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
Published article	7	11	27	44	87	145	174	235

	N:AlOx VLSI 2011	TaO _x /Ta ₂ O ₃ VLSI 2011	Hf/HfOx IEDM 2011	TiO _x N _y /SiO ₂ IEDM 2012	Ni/HfO ₂ IEDM 2012	Parylene-C IEEE EDL 2013	HfO _x /LTO IEEE EDL 2013
Switching type	bipolar	bipolar	bipolar	bipolar	bipolar	bipolar	bipolar
structure	1T-1R	1R	1T-1R	1T-1R	1T-1R	1R	1R
Cell area (µm²)	~1	~9000	0.0001 (10nm)	0.03	0.01 (100 nm)	~ 4	0.0004 (20nm)
Speed	N/A	~ 10 ns	~ 10 ns	500ns	N/A	N/A	1 µs
Peak voltage	<2V	<2.5V	<1.5V	<3V	<3V	3.7 V	<2.2V
Peak current	~ 50 nA	~30µA	~50 μA	~ 60 µA	20nA	150 nA	10μΑ
HRS/LRS ratio	>100	>100	>10	>30	>100	>10	100
endurance	105	1012	5x 10 ⁷	106	10 ²	10 ²	10 ⁸

Га	bl	e	1.3	C	Comparison	of	recentl	y	reported	ŀ	ReR/	١M	ls
----	----	---	-----	---	------------	----	---------	---	----------	---	------	----	----

Besides its strong feature for high density storage class memory application, ReRAM faces some weak points that might be less competitive compared to other non-volatile memory. Most of the ReRAMs seem to operate based on conductive filament model, that exhibits low on/off resistance ratio, see Table 1.3. The low on/off ratio is not desirable in the SCM application. ReRAM cells with low on/off ratio cannot be used in a 3D ReRAM architecture that is suited for the ReRAM array with a large memory capacity required for the SCM application. The parasitic capacitance of the 3D structure comes from the diode, that is usually needed as a selector device, will significantly reduce the on/off ratio of cell arrays [1.3]. Another problem of ReRAM is the forming process to initiate the resistive switching, that is undesirable in a practical application. Memory chip using ReRAM, that requires large forming voltage, needs high voltage tolerable memory driver circuit. Only large device meets this requirement, total memory chip size thus becomes larger. Therefore, research in this area needs a new concept to enhance the performance of the device.

1.4 Introduction to Resistive Random Access Memory (ReRAM)

The first study related to ReRAM has been known for over 40 years ago [1.17]–[1.20]. Using oxide layer sandwiched between two metal electrodes, resistive change phenomena were observed. Those results, however, remain in the domain of

scientific studies, until Samsung presented a paper at the International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM) 2004 [1.6]. They successfully demonstrated that NiO based memory cells can be integrated by using the conventional 0.18-µm complementary metal–oxide–semiconductor (CMOS) process in a one-transistor–one-resistor (1T1R) structure. A complete set of memory characteristics such as data retention, endurance, and programming characteristics was shown in the paper, and it suggested that ReRAM technology may be feasible. Moreover, its compatibility with back-end-of-the-line (BEOL) fabrication temperature envisioned that the ReRAM can be stacked in 3D in a crosspoint architecture [1.31].

Resistive switching devices with metal oxides have been attracting great attention as one of the non-volatile memories for next-generations, owing to low voltage and fast operation with excellent retention properties. The resistance of these oxides from high-resistance state (HRS) to low-resistance state (LRS) and vise versa is triggered by threshold voltage or current, and both states can be retained without applying power, see Figure 1.10.



Figure 1.10 Basic concept of switching event in ReRAM: (a) Set process, (b) Reset

process

ReRAM with a MIM structure is theoretically simple. However, the switching behavior itself is still unclear. With different combination of metal electrodes and oxide materials, the switching behavior may be different [1.5]. Soft breakdown ReRAM or so called the conductive-filament switching model ReRAM, as illustrated in Figure 1.11, where both states are determined by the annihilation and creation of the oxygen vacancies at the tip of filaments within the oxides [1.8] is very widely accepted as a model to explain the switching mechanism.



Figure 1.11 Conductive filament model of ReRAM (a) Schematic illustration^[1.8] (b) Typical I-V curve^[1.1]

The on-state resistance of the conductive filament model of ReRAM is reported to depend on the maximum current during the set switching [1.22]. On the other hand, experimental results revealed that the power used for reset switching should exceed that for set switching, as the reset process is driven by power [1.23]. Although the dependence can be utilized as multilevel programming, precise current limit control to overcome the large variability in on state resistance still remains as an issue. Besides, creation of filaments using electroforming process is required before resistive switching, which involves high voltage application to create chains of oxygen vacancies. In addition to complicated circuit design and are overhead for electroforming process, the power consumption cannot be neglected for the large scale memory chip integration. A recent study on defect-rich AlON resistive switching devices has shown the initial creation of the filament at a low voltage, which is comparable to the set voltage, achieving forming-free resistive switching [1.24]. However, the HRS/LRS ratio is still around 100 as the switching mechanism is still based on the conductive filament model.

1.4.1 Structure of ReRAM

The structure of a single ReRAM cell has a very simple capacitor-like structure as shown in Figure 1.11(a), in which an insulating or semiconducting oxide is sandwiched between two metal electrodes. The typical I-V curve is shown in Figure 1.11 (b), a forming voltage is needed to initiate the switching as indicated in the figure with a curve from the "fresh state". Fig.1.12 shows simple memory matrices of ReRAM cell arrays. Word and bit lines are used for selecting a memory cell and writing or reading data, respectively. To prevent sneak current, ReRAM also need a selector device. In addition, the storage density is determined by the feature size of the fabricating process. Conventional ReRAM memory metrics use a transistor as an ReRAM selector device. Recent memory technologies use diode as selector device instead. A strong benefit of using diode as a selector device is the potential manufacturability of 3D ReRAM architecture.



Figure 1.12 Structure of ReRAM and its selector device in memory matrices^[1.1]

1.4.2 The Switching Modes of ReRAM

The switching modes of the metal–oxide ReRAM is classified into two switching modes: unipolar and bipolar, see figure 1.13.If the switching direction can be driven by one polarity of bias voltage, the device is called unipolar switching device. On the other hand, if the device has to be driven with different polarities of bias voltage, the device is called bipolar switching device. Therefore, in the bipolar switching mode, set process can only occur at one polarity and reset process can only occur at the reverse polarity.



Figure 1.13 Two basic operation schemes of ReRAM: ^[1.3] (a) Bipolar, (b) Unipolar

The switching modes of the conductive filament model ReRAM is usually can be predicted by only based on the electrode materials selection [1.3]. Two ReRAMs with the same oxide material, but with different electrode materials have different switching modes. In most cases, the unipolar mode is obtained with noble metal electrodes both for top electrode (TE) and bottom electrode (BE). If one of the electrodes is replaced by an oxidizable material, the bipolar mode will be obtained, see Figure 1.14.



Figure 1.14 Top electrode selection and switching mode of ReRAM^[1.7]

1.4.3 Current Conduction

Understanding current conduction behavior from TE to BE or vice versa in an ReRAM both for set and reset process is necessary in order to understand its I-V curve characteristic. Many reports discussed about current conduction in the conductive filament model ReRAM [1.25-1.30]. Most of the reports clearly clarify that the current conduction in reset process is just either ohmic or having a linear I-V relationship. On the other hand, the current conduction in set process is still unclear. During the set process usually TE voltage is higher than BE voltage. By applying a set voltage, electrons flows from BE to TE through the oxide.

There are many potential mechanisms for current conduction in the set process as illustrate in Figure 1.15. The explanation of each mechanism is described as follows: (1) Schottky emission: thermally activated electrons are injected over a barrier into conduction band oxide. (2) Fowler–Nordheim (F–N) tunneling: when the electric field is high enough, electrons tunnel from the BE (cathode) into the conduction band via a thin notch near the interface. (3) Direct tunneling: when the oxide is thin enough, the electron tunnel from cathode to anode directly.

If there is a trap in the oxide such as oxygen vacancy, current conduction can change: (4) tunneling from cathode to traps, followed by schottky emission; or (5) tunneling from cathode to traps, followed by F-N like tunneling. If there are a number of traps in the oxide, current conduction occurs by (7) tunneling from cathode to a trap, followed by trap to trap hopping and tunneling from a trap to anode. Electrons would seek the easiest way among all the possibilities.



Figure 1.15 Schematic of possible electron conduction paths through a MIM stack

during set process, adapted from ^[1.3]

1.4.4 Forming Process

Usually for the fresh samples with its initial resistance state, a voltage larger than the set voltage, so called forming process, is needed to initiate the switching process. The forming process in the fresh ReRAM is based on a dielectric soft breakdown process [1.9]. Under high electric field exceeding 10 MV/cm, oxygen atoms are knocked out of the lattice, and drift toward the anode. Instantly, defects in the bulk oxide are generated. The chain of either oxygen vacancies [1.10] or metal precipitates [1.11] leads to the formation of conductive filaments (CFs). The CFs are preferentially generated along the grain boundaries, which were confirmed by the conductive-AFM method [1.12].

Figure 1.16 shows an illustration of the forming and the set processes in the conductive filament model. As the number of intrinsic defects in fresh samples is few, a high forming voltage is needed to initiate the switching process. After the forming process, sufficient numbers of defects form in the oxide layer and the resistance changes from HRS to LRS. In the following switching cycles, the reset process recovers the defects, and it changes the resistance back to HRS. But a portion of the defects, which is the ones near one side of electrodeare, still remaining. This is why the resistance in HRS is much smaller than that in the fresh sample. In the set process, a lower positive bias

voltage than its initial one is required to change the resistance from HRS to LRS.

Apparently an ReRAM device, which requires the forming process, is not desirable in the practical applications, because the forming process requires complex memory control units. Thus, many efforts have been made to achieve the so-called forming-free ReRAM devices. Lee et al. [1.13] successfully eliminated the forming voltage by thinning the HfO_x oxide thickness down to 3 nm. Other ways can reduce the forming voltage are introducing defects by preparing the films under the condition to be oxygen deficient [1.14]–[1.16]. However, all of them need highly precise control of the fabrication process. If there are too many defects in the oxide the on/off ratio might drops.



Figure 1.16 Forming process and set process in conductive filament model

1.4.5 Retention Time

The retention time characteristic of the resistive switching device is a key device performance that characterizes the possible utilization of ReRAM as a
non-volatile memory device. Retention time represents the period of time the stored data should be kept or retained. In practical applications, a data retention time longer than 10 years is required for nonvolatile memory [1.3]. This retention must be maintained at thermal stress up to 85°C, 105°C, 125°C or even 150°C, depending on the application. Understanding of the mechanism of the time relaxation process of stored bits may be essential to improve the retention performances.

1.5 Purpose and Organization of This Study

The purpose of this study is to introduce a new concept of resistive memory based on the breakdown and anodic re-oxidation phenomena, without the forming process that has been mandatory for the conventional resistive memory, while the on/off ratio of the device must be larger than 10⁴. Thereby contributing to the realization of a high device density of storage class memory with programming voltage lower than 5V, which is more suitable for low power devices including battery driven appliances.



Figure 1.17 Outline of this thesis.

This thesis consists of seven chapters. The flow chart of the thesis is shown in Fig. 1.17. The contents of each chapter are briefly described as follows.

In Chapter 1, the necessities for realizing storage class memory with excellent features such as high capacity and fast switching operation is described. Then the details of incumbent memory and all emerging candidates for storage class memory are described. Next, an introduction of ReRAM which is one of the strongest candidates for storage class memory is explained. Lastly the motivation and the organization of this thesis are presented.

In Chapter 2, the concept of the new ReRAM in this study is disclosed. The

working principle of the proposed ReRAM model is described. ReRAM device key features such as switching speed, endurance, retention time, and device density are also discussed.

In Chapter 3, effect of bottom electrode (BE) selection on the switching properties of devices with a CeOx buffer layer is discussed. Using various BE material such as W, Ni, Ti and TiN, the resistance switching showed different switching behavior.

In Chapter 4, bipolar resistive switching characteristic for device with Si-based BE on CeO_x buffer layer is discussed. Effect of BE annealing is also described.

In Chapter 5, the switching behavior of devices with NiSi₂ BE is discussed. By taking the discussion in the previous chapters into account, a new resistive switching device with the bi-layer structure of CeO_x and SiO_2 is described. CeO_x thickness dependence on set voltage is also described. In addition, the effect of BE annealing on the compliance current is discussed.

In Chapter 6. Time dependent analysis of devices with W/CeO_x/SiO₂/NiSi₂ structure is discussed in order to check the validity of the proposed model. Then device endurance and operating speed are discussed.

Lastly, Chapter 7 summarizes the achievements of this thesis. Future research recommendations that are worthy of further development of ReRAM device is presented.

1.6 References

- [1.1] G. W. Burr, K. Virwani, R. S. Shenoy, G. Fraczak, C. T. Rettner, A. Padilla, R. S. King, K. Nguyen, A. N. Bowers, M. Jurich, M. BrightSky, E. A. Joseph, A. J. Kellock, N. Arellano, B. N. Kurdi and K. Gopalakrishnan, "Storage class memory towards a disruptively low-cost solid-state non-volatile memory", Science and Tech, Jan., (2013).
- [1.2] A. Tsutsui, "ReRAM for fast storage application", Flash Memory Summit, Aug., (2012).
- [1.3] H. S. P. Wong, H. Y. Lee, S. Yu, Y. S. Chen, Y. Wu, P. S. Chen, B. Lee, F. T. Chen, and M. J. Tsai, "Metal Oxide RRAM", IEEE, Vol. 100, No. 6, p. 1951 1970. Jun., (2012).
- [1.4] S. Kano, "A proposal of novel resistive switching devicesusing CeO_x with NiSi₂ electrodes", Tokyo Institute of Technology, Dept. of Electronics and Applied Physics, Master Thesis, Mar., (2013).
- [1.5] R. Waser, R. Dittmann, G. Staikov, and K. Szot, "Redox-based resistive switching memories - Nanoionic mechanisms, prospects, and challenges," Adv. Mater., vol. 21, pp. 2632–2663, Jul., (2009).

- [1.6] I. G. Baek, M. S. Lee, S. Seo, M. J. Lee, D. H. Seo, D. S. Suh, J. C. Park, S. O. Park, H. S. Kim, I. K. Yoo, U. In. Chung, and J. T. Moon, "Highly scalable nonvolatile resistive memory using simple binary oxide driven by asymmetric unipolar voltage pulses", in Tech. Dig. IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting, pp. 587–590, (2004).
- [1.7] P. Zhou, M. Yin, H. J. Wan, H. B. Lu, T. A. Tang, and Y. Y. Lin, "Role of TaON interface for CuxO resistive switching memory based on a combined model", Appl.Phys. Lett., vol. 94, 053510, Feb., (2009).
- [1.8] A. Sawa, "Resistive switching in transition metal oxides", Mater. Today, vol. 11, pp. 28–36, (2008).
- [1.9] N. Xu, L. F. Liu, X. Sun, X. Y. Liu, D. D. Han, Y. Wang, R. Q. Han, J. F. Kang, and B. Yu, "Characteristics and mechanism of conduction/set process in TiN/ZnO/Pt resistance switching random-access memories", Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 92, 232112, Jun., (2008).
- [1.10] M. Janousch, G. I. Meijer, U. Staub, B. Delley, S. F. Karg, and B. P. Andreasson, "Role of oxygen vacancies in Cr-doped SrTiO3 for resistance-change memory", Adv.Mater., vol. 19, 2232–2235, Sep., (2007).

- [1.11] G. S. Park, X. S. Li, D. C. Kim, R. J. Jung, M. J. Lee, and S. Seo, "Observation of electric-field induced Ni filament channels in polycrystalline NiOx film", Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 91, 222103, Nov., (2007).
- [1.12] G. Bersuker, D. C. Gilmer, D. Veksler, J. Yum, H. Park, S. Lian, L. Vandelli, A. Padovani, L. Larcher, K. McKenna, A. Shluger, V. Iglesias, M. Porti, M. Nafria, W. Taylor, P. D. Kirsch, and R. Jammy, "Metal oxide RRAM switching mechanism based on conductive filament microscopic properties," in Tech. Dig. IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting, pp. 456–459, (2010),.
- [1.13] H. Y. Lee, P. S. Chen, T. Y. Wu, Y. S. Chen, C. C. Wang, P. J. Tzeng, C. H. Lin, F. Chen, C. H. Lien, and M. J. Tsai, "Low power and high speed bipolar switching with a thin reactive Ti buffer layer in robust HfO₂ based RRAM", in Tech. Dig. IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting, pp. 297–300, (2008).
- [1.14] W. Y. Chang, Y. T. Ho, T. C. Hsu, F. Chen, M. J. Tsai, and T. B. Wu, "Influence of crystalline constituent on resistive switching properties of TiO₂ memory films," Electrochem. Solid State Lett., vol. 12, pp. H135–H137, (2009).
- [1.15] X. Cao, X. M. Li, X. D. Gao, W. D. Yu, X. J. Liu, Y. W. Zhang, L. D. Chen, and X. H. Cheng, "Forming-free colossal resistive switching effect in rare-earth-oxide Gd₂O₃ films for memristor applications," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 106, 073723, Oct.,

(2009).

- [1.16] L. Goux, J. G. Lisoni, X. P.Wang, M. Jurczak, and D. J. Wouters, "Optimized Ni oxidation in 80-nm contact holes for integration offorming-free and low-power Ni/NiO/Ni memory cells", IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 56, no. 10, pp. 2363–2368, Oct., (2009).
- [1.17] T. W. Hickmott, "Low-frequency negative resistance in thin anodic oxide films", J. Appl. Phys., vol. 33, 2669, (1962).
- [1.18] J. F. Gibbons and W. E. Beadle, "Switching properties of thin NIO films", Solid-State Electron., vol. 7, no. 11, pp. 785–790, (1964).
- [1.19] G. Dearnale, A. M. Stoneham, and D. V. Morgan, "Electrical phenomena in amorphous oxide films", Rep. Progr. Phys., vol. 33, 1129, (1970).
- [1.20]J. G. Simmons, "Conduction in thin dielectric films", J. Phys. D, Appl. Phys., vol.4, pp. 613, (1971).
- [1.21] S. Skorobogatov, "Low temperature data remanence in static RAM", Computer Laboratory. University of Cambridge, Jun., (2002).
- [1.22] K. Kinoshita, K. Tsunoda, Y. Sato, H. Noshiro, S. Yagaki, M. Aoki, and Y. Sugiyama, "Reduction in the reset current in a resistive random access memory consisting of NiO_x brought about by reducing a parasitic capacitance", Appl. Phys.

Lett., Vol. 93, 033506 (2008).

- [1.23] A. Chen, S. Haddad, Y. C. Wu, T. N. Fang, S. Kaza, and Z. Lan. "Erasing characteristics of Cu₂O metal-insulator-metal resistive switching memory", Appl. Phys. Lett., Vol. 92, 013503 (2008).
- [1.24] W. Kim, "Forming-free nitrogen-doped AlO_X RRAM with sub-µA programming current", VLSI Symp. on Technology, pp. 22-23 (2011).
- [1.25] Y. M. Kim and J. S. Lee, "Reproducible resistance switching characteristics of hafnium oxide-based nonvolatile memory devices", J. Appl. Phys., vol. 104, pp. 114115-01–114115-06, Dec., (2008).
- [1.26] W. Y. Chang, Y. C. Lai, T. B. Wu, S. F. Wang, F. Chen, and M. J. Tsai, "Unipolar resistive switching characteristics of ZnO thin films for nonvolatile memory applications", Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 92, 022110, Jan., (2008).
- [1.27] C. Y. Lin, S. Y. Wang, D. Y. Lee, and T. Y. Tseng, "Electrical properties and fatigue behaviors of ZrO₂ resistive switching thin films", J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 155, pp. H615–H619, (2008).
- [1.28] Z. Wei, Y. Kanzawa, K. Arita, Y. Katoh, K. Kawai, S. Muraoka, S. Mitani, S. Fujii, K. Katayama, M. Iijima, T. Mikawa, T. Ninomiya, R. Miyanaga, Y. Kawashima, K. Tsuji, A. Himeno, T. Okada, R. Azuma, K. Shimakawa, H. Sugaya,

T. Takagi, R. Yasuhara, K. Horiba, H. Kumigashira, and M. Oshima, "Highly reliable TaO_x ReRAM and direct evidence of redox reaction mechanism," in Tech. Dig. IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting, pp. 293–296, (2008).

- [1.29] Q. Liu, W.H. Guan, S. B. Long, R. Jia, M. Liu, and J. N. Chen, "Resistive switching memory effect of ZrO₂ films with Zr⁺ Implanted", Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 92, 012117, Jan., (2008).
- [1.30] H. Y. Lee, P. S. Chen, T. Y. Wu, Y. S. Chen, F. Chen, C. C. Wang, P. J. Tzeng,
 C. H. Lin, M. J. Tsai, and C. Lien, "HfOx bipolar resistive memory with robust endurance using AlCu as buffer electrode", IEEE Electron Device Lett., vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 703–705, Jul., (2009).
- [1.31] I. G. Baek, D. C. Kim, M. J. Lee, H. J. Kim, E. K. Yim, M. S. Lee, J. E. Lee, S. E. Ahn, S. Seo, J. H. Lee, J. C. Park, Y. K. Cha, S. O. Park, H. S. Kim, I. K. Yoo, U. I. Chung, J. T. Moon, and B. I. Ryu, "Multi-layer cross-point binary oxide resistive memory (OxRRAM) for post-NAND storage application", in Tech. Dig. IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting, pp. 750–753, (2005).

Chapter 2: Concept Disclosure

2.1 Introduction

Resistive switching devices with metal oxides have attracted great interests as one of the non-volatile memories for the next-generation, owing to low voltage and fast operation with excellent retention properties [2.1- 2.2]. The resistance change of these oxides from high-resistance state (HRS) to low-resistance state (LRS) or vice versa is triggered either by voltage or current larger than a threshold, and both states can be retained without power supply [2.3].

The change in the states has been explained based on the conductive-filament switching model, where both states are determined by the annihilation and the formation of the oxygen vacancies at the tip of filaments within the oxides [2.4], as illustrated in Figure 2.1. The resistance at LRS of resistive switching devices is reported to depend on the current compliance (CC) or current limit, during set switching [2.5]. On the other hand, experiments have revealed that the electrical power used for reset switching, from LRS to HRS, should exceed that consumed for set switching, as reset process is basically a Joule heating to annihilate the oxygen vacancies driven by power [2.6]. Although the switching with this mechanism can be utilized as multilevel programming, precise current limit control to overcome the large variability in resistances still remains as an issue [2.7]. Besides, the requirement to form filaments using an initial electroforming process before the resistive switching, which involves high voltage application to form chains of oxygen vacancies, is still another issue [2.1]. In addition to complicated circuit design for the electroforming process, the power consumption of this process cannot be neglected with a large scale memory chip.

A recent study on defect-rich AlON resistive switching devices showed the formation of a filament at low voltage, which is comparable to set voltage, achieving forming-free resistive switching [2.8]. However, the on/off ratio is still on the order of 10², because the switching mechanism is still based on conductive switching. Resistive Switching Memory discussed in this thesis is bipolar type ReRAM. Thus the current polarity is different polarity for set process and reset process [2.1].



Figure 2.1 Switching process of conventional ReRAM, adapted from ^[2.1]

2.2 Proposed Model for New ReRAM

As mentioned in the previous chapter, the main purpose of this study is to get ReRAM with high on/off ratio higher than 10⁴ without requiring the forming process to initiate the switching in a programming voltage less than 5V. Only ReRAMs with high on/off ratio can be used for application with large memory capacity that will have a 3D-ReRAM architecture. And it is typically known that ReRAM with high on/off ratio tends to have a good device endurance. Without a forming process, small memory chip size can be achieved. In addition, It is reported that a downscaling of ReRAM size may cause an increase of the forming voltage [2.1], so achieving ReRAM without a forming process will give a strong contribution in terms of ReRAM scaling technology.

The structure of the proposed ReRAM model is shown in Figure 2.2. In this thesis, the new ReRAM has a bi-layer (high-k and thin low-k) structure instead of single oxide layer such as in the MIM structure ReRAM. It is reported that ReRAM with bi-layer structure can be achieved due to reaction of metal oxide and the electrodes [2.16-2.17]. The low-k layer acts as a switching layer, while the high-k layer acts as a buffer layer. During the set process (+V), the buffer high-k layer has relatively smaller electric field than the low-k layer electric field to initiate breakdown spot in the low-k layer. This high-k layer also enhances re-oxidation of the anodic side with the reverse voltage application during the reset process (-V). The buffer high-k layer plays an important role as an oxygen reservoir in the set and reset processes. By applying a set voltage, oxygen ion from the low-k layer drifts to the high-k layer, and the resistance of the memory cell becomes low. Conversely, by applying a reset voltage, oxygen ion from the high-k layer drifts back to the low-k layer to recover the breakdown spot, and the resistance of the memory cell becomes high.



Figure 2.2 Proposed model of bi-layer structure with high-k and low-k layers

2.3 Oxide Material Selection

Material selection is an important factor to design the ReRAM. For the set process, buffer high-k layer is responsible for inducing a breakdown in the low-k layer so that the resistance state changes from HRS to LRS. In order to localize the breakdown spot only in the low-k layer, the breakdown electric field value of the buffer high-k layer must be a condition: $E_{BD}^{high-k} > (\epsilon^{low-k}/\epsilon^{high-k})E_{BD}^{low-k}$, where E_{BD}^{high-k} , E_{BD}^{low-k} , ϵ^{high-k} , and ϵ^{low-k} denote breakdown electric field of high-k layer, breakdown electric field of low-k layer, permittivity of high-k layer, and permittivity of low-k layer, respectively. For reset process, oxygen ions in the buffer high-k layer will re-oxidize BE, so the breakdown spot can be recovered. At the end of the reset process, the resistance state change from LRS to HRS. As set and reset process behavior is strongly depends on the oxygen ionic conductivity of buffer high-k layer, selecting the best oxide material for the buffer layer is indispensable. The Guideline for

buffer high-k layer and low-k layer oxide material selection is shown in Figure 2.3.

Buffer high-k Layer

- As high as possible k value: lower V_{set}
- High E_{BD}: localized BD spot in the low-k layer
- High oxygen ionic conductivity: faster reoxidation process, high on/off ratio remaining forming free
- □ Narrow Eg: low resistance in LRS

Thin low-k Layer

- As low as possible k value: lower V_{set}
- □ Wide E_g: high resistance in HRS
- Can be formed by anodic oxidation at BE

Figure 2.3 Guideline for the oxide material selection

Since current in LRS is mainly limited by the electron conduction in the buffer high-k layer, therefore a narrow band gap of high-k layer is preferable to get a lower resistance of LRS. While for buffer high-k layer there are numerous metal oxides as the candidates. Transition metal oxide are strong candidates, and the other candidates are lanthanide series metal oxides [2.1]. Figure 2.4 shows numbers of material candidates both for the high-k and the low-k layer. Based on the figure, buffer high-k layer strong candidate are CeO_x, TiO₂, BaO, YSZ, HfO₂, and Ta₂O₅, that are represent the high-k material with narrow band gap energy. While strong candidates for the switching layer are low-k material with large band gap energy. SiO₂ is apparently the best oxide material for thin low-k layer. The electrode material selection is also an important factor, in this thesis bottom electrode material is selected based on its contribution on the formation of desired low-k layer. While for top electrode, metal that contribute as an oxygen reservoir are preferable. W is selected as top electrode, as it has good property for oxygen reservoir [2.15].



Figure 2.4 Band gap versus dielectric constants of oxide material candidates [2.9-2.10]

Poly yttria stabilized zirconia (YSZ) has reported to have high oxygen ionic conductivity in a wide range of temperature [2.11]. However, considering the operating

temperature for storage class memory applications: data server, computer memory, portable storage disk etc, maximum operating temperature of 105^oC will be in many cases is sufficient. Thus the search for buffer high-k material that has better oxygen ionic conductivity than that of poly-YSZ in the temperature range is necessary. Poly CeO₂ is reported to have higher oxygen ionic conductivity than that of poly YSZ in the temperature range of the SCM operation [2.12], as illustrated in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3 Oxygen ionic conductivity characteristic comparison between poly-YSZ and

poly-CeO_x as buffer high-k layer strong candidate

2.4 Parameter for Set Process



Figure 2.6 Model for set process mechanism

Based on a simple model for the set process as illustrated in Figure 2.6, the set voltage to form a break down spot in the low-k layer can be easily calculated. With a constant displacement throughout the bi-layer, the applied voltage V_{app} , can be expressed using equation 2.1

$$V_{app} = t_{low-k} E_{low-k} + t_{high-k} E_{high-k}$$
2.1

where, t_{low-k} as the physical thickness of the low-k layer, E_{low-k} as the electric field across the low-k layer, t_{high-k} as the physical thickness of the high-kand E_{high-k} as the electric field across the high-k. Since dielectric constants of low-k and high-k layer are different, the electric field in the high-k layer is proportionally smaller than that of the low-k layer. Therefore, equation (2.1) can be expressed by only using the E_{low-k} as:

$$V_{app} = t_{low-k} E_{low-k} + t_{high-k} \frac{k_{low-k}}{k_{high-k}} E_{low-k}$$
$$= \left(t_{low-k} + t_{high-k} \frac{k_{low-k}}{k_{high-k}} \right) E_{low-k}$$
2.2

Equation 2.2 indicates that the operating voltage depends on the thickness of the high-k layer. Therefore, it can be inferred that scaling the film thickness of the low-k layer can accomplish low operation voltage. Moreover, large contrast of dielectric constant value between low-k and high-k can also accomplish low operation voltage.

Assuming a certain breakdown field for low-k layer, the set voltage can be expressed.

$$V_{Set} = \left(t_{low-k} + t_{high-k} \frac{k_{low-k}}{k_{high-k}}\right) E_{BD.low-k}$$
2.3

In this study, SiO₂ was used as a low-k layer, as it has highest breakdown field value of 14 MV/cm among the candidates. Next, the effect of high-k layer thickness on the set voltage can be predicted, as shown in Figure 2.7. The black line represents the set voltage tendency of device, assuming relative permittivity of 28 for the buffer high-k layer, while the blue line represents the set voltage tendency assuming that the relative

permittivity is 16. The design guideline is: higher the dielectric constant ratio between high-k and low-k layer lower the set voltage.



Figure 2.7 Model for set voltage on high-k layer thickness dependence

2.5 Parameter for Reset Process

Reset voltage application to the memory cell recovers the breakdown spot in the low-k layer. By applying negative voltage, oxygen ion in the high-k layer will drift back to the breakdown spot in the low-k layer, as illustrated in Figure 2.8. Resistance state therefore changes from LRS to HRS at the end of the reset process.



Figure 2.8 Model for reset process mechanism

In order to get a forming free behavior, the oxygen ionic conductivity of high-k buffer layer material must be high in order to perfectly recover the breakdown spot in the low-k layer. A simple method for achieving forming free ReRAM with high ON/OFF ratio, based on buffer layer material, oxygen ionic conductivity is illustrated in Figure 2.9.



Figure 2.3 A method to achieve device with high on/off ratio without the forming process

2.6 Device Key Features

2.6.1 Switching Speed

The switching speed of ReRAM is determined by how fast the set process and reset process can complete. In the proposed device model, the set process time is considered to be determined by time to the breakdown process in the low-k layer. The breakdown process is initiated by oxygen ion drift from the low-k layer to the high-k layer when the electric field across the low-k layer reaches its breakdown electric field value. Likewise, the speed of breakdown spot recovery will determine the reset process speed.

Selection of proper oxide material for the bi-layer ReRAM is important also to optimize the ReRAM switching speed. Selecting the high-k material with a high oxygen ionic conductivity of the buffer layer will increase the speed. In addition, the low-k layer thickness is also determines the switching speed. It is predicted that the thinner the low-k layer faster the switching speed.

2.6.2 Endurance

The ReRAM device endurance properties determine the maximum number of switching cycles until the switching failure. Usually, failure state of ReRAM is that stucking in LRS and being unable to reset back to HRS or vice versa [2.1]. In the proposed ReRAM device model, switching failure may occur when the high-k layer is unable to recover the breakdown spot in order to change the resistance state from LRS to HRS. A possible reason is due to either there is too large breakdown spot in the low-k layer or the oxygen ionic conductivity in high-k layer drop. Overshooting the set voltage may enlarge the breakdown spot, while temperature drop may cause the decrease in the oxygen ionic conductivity of the high-k layer.

2.6.3 Retention Time

Retention time represents the period of time the stored data should be kept or retained. Retention time longer than ten years is generally required for non-volatile memory. A comprehensive understanding of the physical switching mechanism of ReRAM device is needed in order to make reliable retention projections. Basically, there are two resistance states in ReRAM, HRS and LRS as illustrated in Figure 2.10. HRS represented by logic "0", while LRS is represented by logic "1".



Figure 2.10 Representative states in ReRAM

The resistance in HRS can be expressed by equation 2.3

 $R_{HRS} = R_{high-k} + R_{low-k}$

2.3

While the resistance in LRS is

$$R_{LRS} = R_{high-k}$$

Retention time can also be described as how long time to failure, either in HRS or in LRS, without interference of applied voltage. There are three methods in the literature that are commonly used in order to predict the retention time behavior of ReRAM device [2.1]. The first one is to place the devices in a high temperature ambient, and monitor the device's resistance variation for a long duration by applying read pulses at certain time intervals, e.g., every 1 s, and extrapolate the resistance variation curve to ten-year point. While this method is easy to be implemented, however, it has a limitation, because the time dependence of resistance variation is not guaranteed to be steady. Abrupt resistance change or breakdown-like event might occur after a term of retention measurement [2.13].

Another alternative is to bake the device at elevated temperatures for an extended period and then read out the resistances at specific times (aftercooling down), e.g., after 1 day, 3 days, 1 week and so on. The third one is a temperature-accelerated method. Varying the temperature, record the time-to-failure for each temperature and draw the Arrhenius plot to extract the activation energy, and then extrapolate down to the operating temperature of the ReRAM device. By taking memory device to a high temperature, oxygen ion vacancy is generated due to oxygen ion drift to the electrode.

In this model, the retention time of the device is predicted by HRS error.

Since the proposed ReRAM device in this thesis has different switching mechanism compared to the conductive filament model ReRAM, the retention time behavior might be different. Generation of the oxygen vacancy in the buffer layer for devices with HRS will only slightly change the resistance of the device, because the resistance in the HRS is dominated by the resistance of the low-k layer. On the other hand, heating the ReRAM device at high temperature may trigger the oxygen ion drifted back from the high-k layer to recover the breakdown spot in a low-k layer that will change the resistance from LRS to HRS. This process is similar to the reset process. Even without applying voltage, oxygen ion may drift back to the breakdown spot at elevated temperatures.



Figure 2.11 Proposed model for retention time extrapolation



Figure 2.12 Illustration of reset process like phenomena in LRS failure model

By considering Figure 2.11 and 2.12, LRS failure will determine the retention time of the ReRAM device. To elucidate the reset like phenomena, the ion recombination model [2.14] as illustrated in Figure 2.13 is used.



Figure 2.13 ion recombination model, adapted from ^[2.14]

The oxygen ion is accumulated near the interface of high-k and low-k layers. The mobile O^{2^-} ions can jump over the interface barrier to recover the breakdown spot in the low-k layer under certain circumstance. Heating the memory device at high temperature may enhance the oxygen ion diffusion to recover the breakdown spot. Based on the diffusion and drift effect, the local O^{2^-} concentration $C_0(\mathbf{r})$ obeys the following equation [2.14]:

$$\frac{\partial C_0(\mathbf{x},t)}{\partial t} = D \left[ze \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x} \frac{\partial C_0(x,t)}{\partial x} + k_B T \frac{\partial^2 C_0(x,t)}{\partial x^2} \right]$$
 2.5

where φ , *D*, *T*, *kB*, *Ze*, and *l* are electric potential in the oxide layer, diffusion coefficient, temperature, Boltzmann constant, electric quantity of O^{2–}, and oxide layer thickness, respectively. The drift effect appears only when there is a voltage applied in the system. In the retention time model, drift effect can be neglected, so equation 2.5 can be simplified as:

$$\frac{\partial C_0(\mathbf{x},t)}{\partial t} = Dk_B T \frac{\partial^2 C_0(\mathbf{x},t)}{\partial x^2}$$
 2.6

2.6.4 Device Density

Device density defines how large data can be stored for a certain memory die size. The requirement for the storage class memory is high device density and fast switching speed. So that it can fill the gap between flash memory and DRAM. There are two general methods in order to increase the device density, by either exploiting the scaling limit or using multi bit operation so called multi level cell (MLC) operation.

Decreasing the device size is reported to alter the device property. For smaller device, higher on/off ratio can be achieved [2.1]. As mentioned in the previous chapter, that in memory chip contains memory cells and selector devices. Downsizing the selector device is an important factor to increase the device density. The selector device size is determined by its maximum current density. ON current is recognized as the peak current in memory cell [2.1]. Suppressing the ON current for scaled-down device, smaller current density flows throughout the selector device. And thus smaller selector device can be used.

MLC operation exploits the layout area of a memory device to realize more than one bit of digital data per cell [2.1]. In conventional ReRAM, MLC operation is performed by changing the resistance level, either in LRS or HRS, as illustrated in Figure 2.12. By applying different compliance current, different resistance level can be generated. Each resistance level represents a different bit state, which means that more data can be stored in one memory cell, that is the multiple number of resistance levels can be generated.



Figure 2.12 Resistance level in MLC operation

Basically, in bipolar type ReRAM, both positive and negative bias voltages can be used to trigger MLC operation. In the proposed ReRAM in this study, the set process is due to the breakdown process while the reset process is due to the re-oxidation process. Triggering the MLC operation using different set voltages is difficult in the practical application, on the other hand triggering MLC operation using different reset voltages will be much easier. The reset process in this study is almost similar to that in the conventional ReRAM. And basically these are the same redox reaction.



Figure 2.13 Switching voltage in SLC operation ReRAM



Figure 2.14 Switching voltage in MLC operation ReRAM

Figures 2.13 and 2.14 illustrate the switching voltage for single level cell (SLC) operation and multi level cell (MLC) operation of the ReRAM device of this study. The MLC operation is triggered by applying the reset voltages in order to generate different resistance levels. Assuming using the same reset voltage amplitude, applying a narrower pulse width than in SLC operation can generate different resistance level. The quantity of oxygen ion to recover the breakdown spot is controlled, as illustrated in Figure 2.15.



Figure 2.15 Physical illustration of different resistance levels of MLC operation

The switching cycle of the proposed ReRAM device in MLC operation mode is shown in Figure 2.16. In the initial state, the device is in the HRS state, by applying a set voltage the resistance changes from HRS to LRS, this state represents "000". At the subsequent cycles, by applying reset voltages with narrow pulse width, resistance changes to different resistance levels, representing different bit values of "001", "010", "011" and "100" respectively. A bit value of 100 in MLC operation mode is equal to HRS in SLC operation mode.

Figure 2.16 Switching cycle model of the proposed ReRAM device in MLC operation

mode

2.7 References

- [2.1] H. S. P. Wong, H. Y. Lee, S. Yu, Y.S. Chen, Y. Wu, P. S. Chen, B. Lee, F. T.
 Chen, and M. J. Tsai, "Metal Oxide RRAM", J. IEEE, Vol. 100, No. 6, p. 1951 –
 1970, Jun., (2012).
- [2.2] D. S. Jeong, R. Thomas, R.S. Katiyar, J.F. Scott, H. Kohlstedt, A. Petraru and C.S Hwang, "Emerging memories: resistive switching mechanisms and current status", Rep. Prog. Phys., Vol. 75, 076502, (2012).
- [2.3] S. D. Ha, and S. Ramanathan, "Adaptive oxide electronics: A review", J. Appl. Phys., Vol. 110, 071101, (2011).
- [2.4] A. Sawa, "Resistive Switching in Transition Metal Oxide", Mater. Today, Vol. 11, pp. 28, (2008).
- [2.5] K. Kinoshita, K. Tsunoda, Y. Sato, H. Noshiro, S. Yagaki, M. Aoki, and Y. Sugiyama, "Reduction in the reset current in a resistive random access memory consisting of NiO_x brought about by reducing a parasitic capacitance", Appl. Phys. Lett., Vol. 93, 033506, (2008).
- [2.6] A. Chen, S. Haddad, Y. C. Wu, T. N. Fang, S. Kaza, and Z. Lan., "Erasing characteristics of Cu₂O metal-insulator-metal resistive switching memory", Appl. Phys. Lett., Vol. 92, 013503 (2008).

- [2.7] H. Y. Lee, P. S. Chen, T. Y. Wu, Y. S. Chen, C. C. Wang, P. J. Tzeng, C. H. Lin, F. Chen, C. H. Lien, and M.J. Tsai, "Low power and high speed bipolar switching with a thin reactive Ti buffer layer in robust HfO₂ based RRAM," in Tech. Dig. IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting, pp. 297–300, (2008).
- [2.8] W. Kim, "Forming-free nitrogen-doped AlO_X RRAM with Sub-μA. Programming Current", VLSI Symp. on Technology, pp. 22-23, (2011).
- [2.9] Robertson J, "Interface and defects of high-k oxides on silicon", Solid-State Electron.,49(3), 283, (2005).
- [2.10] M. Kouda, "A systematic study of rare-earth oxide for charged defect reduction and EOT scaling in gate dielectrics", Tokyo Institute of Technology, Dept. of Electronics and Applied Physics, Doctor Thesis, (2012).
- [2.11] R. G. Anderson, S. Nowick, "Ionic conductivity of CeO₂ with trivalent dopant ionic radii", Solid State Ionics, vol. 5, 547-550, (1981).
- [2.12] R. G. Anderson, S. Nowick, "Grain-boundary effect in ceria doped with tivalent cation: I, electrical measurements", J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 69, pp. 641, (1986).
- [2.13] B. Gao, J. F. Kang, H. W. Zhang, B. Sun, B. Chen, L. F. Liu, X. Y. Liu, R. Q. Han, Y. Y. Wang, B. Yu, Z. Fang, H. Y. Yu, and D.-L. Kwong, "Oxide-based
RRAM: Physical based retention projection", Proc. Eur. Solid-State Device Res. Conf., pp. 392–395., (2010).

- [2.14] B. Gao, J. F. Kang, L. F. Liu, X. Y. Liu, and B. Yu, "A physical model for bipolar oxide-based resistive switching memory based on ion-transport-recombination effect", J. Appl. Phys., Vol. 98, 232108, (2011).
- [2.15] T. Kawanago, "A study on high-k/metal gate stack MOSFETs with rare earth oxides", Tokyo Institute of Technology, Dept. of Electronics and Applied Physics, Doctor Thesis, (2011).
- [2.16] L. W. Feng, C. Y. Chang, Y. F. Chang, W. R. Chen, S. Y. Wang, P. W. Chiang, and T. C. Chang, "A study of resistive switching effects on a thin FeO_x transition layer produced at the oxide/iron interface of TiN/SiO₂/Fe-contended electrode structures", Appl. Phys. Lett., *vol.* **96** 052111, (2010).
- [2.17] L. W. Feng, Y. F. Chang, C. Y. Chang, T. C. Chang, S. Y. Wang, P. W. Chiang, C. C. Lin, and S. C. Chen," Reproducible resistance switching of a relatively thin FeOx layer produced by oxidizing the surface of a FePt electrode in a metal-oxide-metal structure", Thin Solid Films, 519, pp. 1536-1539, (2010).

Chapter 3:

Effect of Bottom Electrode Selection On Device Switching Characteristics With CeO_x Buffer Layer

3.1 Introduction

In addition to its excellent feature for the ReRAM of this study, that is high oxygen ionic conductivity at room temperature [3.3] and narrow band gap energy [3.4], CeO_x is known to be composed of multivalent cations,which indicates to have a good property as an ReRAM buffer layer [3.1]. However, due to the self-compensating behavior to pin the oxygen chemical potential and hence the number of oxygen vacancies, the resistive switching is reported to be small for the ReRAM with Ce oxide [3.2]. Therefore, it is expected that there is a room for further improvement in the switching behavior if a proper reaction between the Ce oxide layers and electrodes occurs. Indeed, the electrode dependent resistive switching properties were reported for Hf oxide layer, suggesting the reactions between the dielectric layer and the bottom electrode is influential to the ReRAM properties [3.5]. In this chapter, the effect of bottom electrode materials on resistive switching behavior with Ce oxide layer is discussed.

3.2 Device Fabrication Process

The basic device fabrication flow, used to process ReRAM devices with CeO_x buffer layer, is illustrated in Figure 3.1. A 200-nm SiO_2 layer was formed on p -Si substrate with an impurity concentration of 10¹⁸ cm⁻³ by thermal oxidation. The SiO₂ layer was lithographically patterned by a wet etching to form contacts between bottom electrode and substrate. Then bottom electrode layer (W, Ni, Ti, TiN) was deposited on the SiO₂ layer by RF sputtering. For depositing the TiN bottom electrode film, the reactive sputtering was used. N2 gas was introduced into the chamber and then nitrogen reactive sputter deposition was done with Ti target to form nitride films. A 13-nm CeO_x film as a buffer layer, was deposited by electron-beam evaporation at 300°C, followed by in-situ deposition of 50-nm-thick tungsten by rf sputtering as a top electrode. The top electrode was then patterned by a reactive ion etching (RIE) with SF₆ chemistry. Patterned W top electrodes (TE) with an area of $(20 \times 20) \ \mu m^2$ were used to measure the electrical property of the device. Lastly, an Al layer was deposited as a backside contact. For I-V curve characterization, a ramp voltage 0.05V/step ranging from -10V to + 10V were applied, using sweeping time of 640µs. I-V curve measurement setup is shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.1Device fabrication processes of ReRAM with W, Ni, Ti and TiN BE



Figure 3.2 Measurement setup for I-V curve characterization

3.3 Switching Behavior of ReRAM with W BE

The resistive switching characteristics of ReRAM with W bottom electrodes is shown in Fig. 3.3. After the first voltage sweep, referred as initial, the voltage was swept to different polarity to achieve a reset process, then again the voltage was swept back to obtain set process. The switching behavior exhibited a bipolar type behavior, however, resistance change only could be observed in the reset process, while in set process was also essential. The I-V curve indicates no switching behavior between HRS and LRS.

A possible explanation for this behavior is that their switching properties weren't caused by changing the resistance in the CeO_x property itself [3.2]. But by changing the resistance of interfacial layer between CeO_x and BE, that is formed during the deposition of CeO_x. The interfacial layer at the initial state with fresh sample may either be too thin or have too many initial defects, once the current switches to LRS by applying the set voltage, it remains in this state indefinitely.



Figure 3.3 Bipolar resistance switching characteristics of W/CeOx/W ReRAM

3.3 Switching Behavior of ReRAM with Ti BE

Figure 3.4 shows the switching behavior of ReRAM with Ti BE. After applying a voltage sweep to positive or negative directions the switching behavior shows almost the similar behavior to the ReRAM using W as BE. A small difference is that there is a little bit remarkable resistance change detected after set voltage applied. Possibly, there are many initial defects in the thin interface layer and the insulating property is low, applying reset voltage will repair some of them. On the subsequent cycle, applying set voltage will form an oxygen vacancy chain in the interface layer, but resistance change is small due to leakage current flow throughout the unrepaired defects site.



Figure 3.4Bipolar resistance switching characteristics of W/CeO_x/Ti ReRAM

3.4 Switching Behavior of ReRAM with Ni BE

The resistive switching characteristic for devices with Ni BE is shown in figure 3.5. Resistance switching characteristics with Ni bottom electrode showed a switching behavior with a symmetric shape and the current followed the initial characteristics, achieving a forming-free resistive switching behavior. The switching behavior was in good agreement with the proposed model in this study, as mentioned in Chapter 2. However, the on/off ratio is small, possibly due to the insulating property of the interfacial layer formed between the CeO_x layer and the Ni BE is low. High set and reset voltages of ~10V and ~ -10V, respectively, were detected, possibly due to small dielectric constant different between CeO_x and interface layers.



Figure 3.5 Bipolar resistance switching characteristics of W/CeO_x/Ni ReRAM

The results for the above three samples give a strong evidence that the proposed ReRAM device is works based on resistance change in the interface layer between CeO_x layer and BE. Figure 3.6 shows a model to explain the switching behavior of ReRAM with W, Ti and Ni BEs. Among all three BEs, Ni exhibit most suitable property as the interfacial layer. Low quality interfacial layer exhibits in both ReRAM with W and Ti BE leads to catastrophic dielectric breakdown in the interfacial layer after set voltage applied to ReRAM [3.8].



Figure 3.6 Illustration of switching layer for W/CeO_x/W, Ti, and Ni

structure ReRAM^[3.5-3.7]

3.5 Switching Behavior of ReRAM with TiN BE

To elucidate the proposed model, the resistive switching characteristics with TiN bottom electrode was also investigated. The CeO_x layer thickness was set to 13-nm, the same condition with ReRAM which using W, Ti and Ni as a BE.

The I-V characteristics of devices with TiN BE are shown in Figure 3.7. Only positive initial voltage sweep showed a resistive switching behavior. Also, a slight decrease in current only by one half was observed with a 2nd negative voltage sweep. The 3rd voltage application to positive direction did not follow the 1st sweep; higher current by two orders of magnitudes than the 1st sweep. Here, only a resistance ratio of 67 was obtained. A TEM image of the sample, shown in Figure 3.8 revealed a 1-nm-thick amorphous TiO₂ layer between TiN and CeOx layers. Due to the high

dielectric constant of TiO₂ more than 40, the electric field in TiO₂ layer is smaller than in CeO_x, and the breakdown spot exists in the CeOx layer not in the TiO₂ layer. Figure 3.9 shows an illustration of switching layer in the W/CeO_x/TiN structure ReRAM. Giving the fact that ReRAM device using this structure needs to apply forming voltage to initiate the switching process, while it exhibited small on/off ratio after a subsequent cycle, the switching behavior can be considered to follow the conductive filament model.



Figure 3.7 Bipolar resistance switching characteristics of W/CeO_x/TiN structure ReRAM



Figure 3.8 TEM image of W/CeO_x/TiN structure ReRAM



Figure 3.9 Illustration of switching layer for W/CeO_x/TiN structure ReRAM

3.6 Summary of this Chapter

The influence of the conventional metal BE selection on the resistive switching behavior of CeO_x films is investigated. Using the W, Ti, or Ni as BE exhibits forming free behavior, eventhough it has small on/off ratio. Change of resistance state depends

on resistance change of thin interfacial layer. While the device using TiN as BE material did not exhibit a forming free behavior, but it has relatively higher on/off ratio of ~67. Change of resistance state depended on resistance change of the CeO_x buffer layer. The bottom Electrode selection thus plays an important role in improving the entire switching characteristic of ReRAM device. The results give a strong suggestion that using a bottom electrode contains silicon, can form thin SiO₂ as the low-k interface layer. This will abruptly increase the on/off ratio of the device, and remaining forming free.

3.7 References

- [3.1] L.F. Liu, X. Sun, B. Sun, J. F. Kang, Y. Wang, X. Y. Liu, R. Q. Han, G. C. Xiong, "Current compliance-free resistive switching in nonstoichiometric CeO_x films for nonvolatile memory application", IEEE International, pp.1, (2009).
- [3.2] C. Dou, K. Kakushima, P. Ahmet, K. Tsutsui, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, K. Natori, T. Hattori, H. Iwai, "Resistive switching behavior of a CeO₂ based ReRAM cell incorporated with Si buffer layer", Microelectron. Reliab., 52, pp. 688 (2012).
- [3.3] R. G. Anderson, S. Nowick, "Grain-boundary effect in ceria doped with tivalent cation: I, Electrical Measurements", J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 69, pp. 641, (1986).
- [3.4] Robertson J, "Interface and defects of high-k oxides on silicon", Solid-State Electron, 49(3), 283, (2005).
- [3.5] Y. Y. Chen, G. Pourtois, X. P. Wang, C. Adelmann, L. Goux, B. Govoreanu, L. Pantisano, S. Kubicek, L. Altimime, M. Jurczak, J. A. Kittl, G. Groeseneken, and D. J. Wouters, "Switching by Ni filaments in a HfO₂ matrix: a new path way to improved unipolar switching RRAM", IEEE International, (2011).
- [3.6] W. C. Chien, Y. R. Chen, Y. C. Chen, A. T. H. Chuang, F. M. Lee, Y. Y. Lin, E.K. Lai, Y. H. Shih, K. Y. Hsieh, "A Forming-free WOx resistive memory using a

novel self-aligned field enhancement feature with excellent reliability and scalability", C. Lu, IEDM, pp. 440 (2010).

- [3.7] Q. Lv, S. Wu, J. Lu, M. Yang, P. Hu S. Li, "Conducting nanofilaments formed by oxygen vacancy migration in Ti/TiO₂/TiN/MgO memristive device", J. Appl. Phys., 110, 104511 (2011).
- [3.8] E. Miranda, S. Kano, C. Dou, J. Sune, K. Kakushima, and H. Iwai, "Effect of an ultrathin SiO₂ interfacial layer on the hysteretic current–voltage characteristics of CeO_x-based metal–insulator–metal structures", Thin Solid Films, 533, pp.38–42, (2013).

Chapter 4:

Bipolar Resistive Switching Characteristics of CeO_x Layer on Si-based Bottom Electrodes

4.1. Introduction

In this chapter a structure to achieve a high HRS/LRS ratio by using a CeO_x layer on Si-based bottom electrodes (BEs) is proposed. This bottom electrode is chosen in order to generate the formation of SiO₂ as an interfacial layer (SiO₂-IL) between the CeO_x layer and the BE. The unique feature of SiO₂ is that it has both the widest band gap and the lowest dielectric value among the oxide material candidates [4.1]. As the resistance in HRS is strongly dependent on the insulating property of low-k layer and a large difference in dielectric constant of high-k and low-k layers can reduce the set voltage, the use of SiO₂ as a low-k layer will produce high on/off resistance ratio of the memory device.

4.2 Device Fabrication Process

The basic device fabrication flow, used to to process ReRAM devices with CeO_x buffer layer, is illustrated in Figure 4.1. A 200-nm SiO₂ was formed on p^+ -Si substrate with animpurity concentration of 10^{18} cm⁻³ by thermal oxidation. The SiO₂ layer was lithographically patterned by wet etching to form contacts between the bottom electrode and the substrate. Then BE layer was deposited on the SiO₂ layer by rf sputtering. A (100)-oriented p^+ -Si single crystalline with doping density of 3×10^{18} cm⁻³ is used as BE.

For preparing the BE, either chemical cleaning with the HF dipping process or low temperature thermal oxidation in diluted oxygen ambient was used. Then, CeO_x films with different thicknesses were deposited at 10^{-6} Pa with a substrate temperature at 300° C. A 50-nm-thick W layer was sputter deposited on the CeO_x layers and patterned by reactive ion etching with SF₆ chemistry to form top electrodes (TE). X-ray photoelectron measurements revealed that the deposited CeO_x layer contains 47%-Ce₂O₃ and 19%-CeO₂ with 34% of Ce-silicate at the bottom of the layer in molar concentration [4.2]. One of the prominent features of the CeO_x layer with multivalent properties is that the layer induces oxidation to form a thin SiO₂ for both BEs, owing to high oxygen ion conductivity [4.2]. Figure 4.2 shows a cross-sectional transmission electron microscope (TEM) image of the fabricated devices with p^+ -Si BE. Thin layers with bright contrast, adjacent to the Bes, are clearly seen with thicknesses about 1 nm. An area of 20×20µm² for TE was used to measure the resistive switching behaviors. For I-V curve characterization, a ramp voltage 0.05V/step ranging from -10V to + 10V was applied, using sweeping time of 640µs. I-V curve measurement setup is shown in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.1 Fabrication process of ReRAM with p^+ -SiBE



Figure 4.2 TEM images of fabricated devices for 4-nm-thick CeO_x layer



Figure 4.3 Measurement setup for I-V curve characterization

4.3 Resistive switching behavior of device with p^+ -Si BE

Figure 4.4 shows the current-voltage (*I-V*) characteristics of the $W/CeO_x(13nm)/SiO_2-IL/p^+-Si$ device. Here, the CC was set to 1 mA, which was

adjusted to give highest switching properties in terms of HRS to LRS ratio. Firstly, voltage to the TE was swept to positive direction and at a voltage of 8 V, the current was limited by CC. Sweeping back the voltage toward 0V revealed that the resistance of the device becomes three orders of magnitude smaller at a voltage of 0.1 V. When the second voltage sweep was conducted toward negative direction, a sudden drop in the current at a voltage of -3.5 V was observed and the resistance kept high during the voltage sweep back to 0 V. By applying the third voltage sweep toward positive direction, a sudden jump in the current, a breakdown-like behavior, was observed at a voltage of 3.7 V and reached to CC to clamp the applied voltage. Again, while sweeping back the voltage to 0 V, the current nearly followed the initial current characteristics. The obtained I-V curve is a typical bipolar type resistive switching behavior.



Figure 4.4 Resistive switching behavior of 13.5-nm-thick CeO_x layer on a p^+ -Si BE with a thin SiO₂-IL with an initial voltage sweep to positive direction

Figure 4.5 shows the I-V curve with the initial voltage sweep to negative direction. No difference in the bipolar switching direction has been observed irrespective to the polarity of the initial voltage sweep direction, indicating that the device has polarity for resistive switching. Note that the I-V characteristics of a W/CeO_x/W MIM structure, as discussed in Chapter 3, showed little switching behavior, so that the obtained bipolar resistive switching with p^+ -Si BE should originate from the interaction at the BE interface [4.3].



Figure 4.5 Resistive switching behavior of 13.5-nm-thick CeO_x layer on a p^+ -Si BE with a thin SiO₂-IL with an initial voltage sweep to negative direction.

As the relative dielectric constant of CeO_x is 28, which is 7 times higher than that of SiO₂, the electric field in the thin SiO₂ layer becomes 7 times higher than that of CeO_x layer. Therefore, high electric field can easily induce local breakdown to the thin SiO₂ layer in the set process. As SiO₂ has good insulator properties, local breakdown in this layer dramatically reduces the resistance between TE and BE. In the reset process, the contribution of oxygen ions in the CeO_x layer can be the source to anodically reoxidize the breakdown spots (BD spots) in the thin SiO₂ layer, in the same way that metals can be oxidized by scanning probe microscopy [4.4]. The above mechanism, shown schematically in Figure 4.6, can qualitatively explain the current jump behavior for the set and reset process.



Figure 4.6 A schematic model to explain bipolar switching with a thin-SiO₂ IL

To elucidate the influence of the process to form thin SiO₂-ILs, a device with thermally grown SiO₂-IL was fabricated. The p^+ -Si wafer was oxidized in 5%-O₂ ambient at 850°C for 5 minutes using rapid thermal oxidation (RTO) to form a thin SiO₂ layer with a thickness of nearly 1-nm [4.5]. Figure 4.7 shows *I-V* characteristics of the device with and without an RTO process of the initial substrate, where bipolar-type resistive switching behaviorsare observed for both devices. Smaller current was

obtained for the initial positive voltage sweep, indicating that the insulating properties of the thin-SiO₂ IL, for example, smaller number of traps or better thickness uniformity, were improved by the RTO process. It is reported that the RTO process can increase the regularity of atomic arrangement of the interface layer [4.11]. The CC of the device with RTO was optimized to 100 μ A, which is smaller than the device without RTO. When the voltage is swept back to 0 V, same current characteristics were obtained for both samples, suggesting that electron conduction through the local breakdown spots were the same. Reset characteristics, a step-like drop in current, were observed in both samples with the second voltage sweep to negative direction, except that a large current drop over three orders of magnitude was obtained with the RTO-treated device around the same voltage of -2.7 V. As a result, the on/off ratio of the device, measured at -0.1 V, increased from 1.5×10^3 to 1.6×10^4 with the RTO process. The third voltage sweep to positive direction showed a jump in the current for both devices, with nearly the same voltage around 4 V.

Schematic models to explain the effect of the RTO process are shown in Figures 4.8 and 4.9. When a thinSiO₂-IL with large number of traps distributed in the film is formed between the CeO_x layer and the p^+ -Si BE, relatively large leakage current can flow through leakage paths with a high density of localized states at energies

distributed over a wide range in the band gap[4.6]. While increasing the initial voltage applied to TE, new traps are generated and once it reaches to critical defect density, the layer breaks down to form breakdown spots and the forming process completes. Reset process to locally anodize the breakdown spot will take place by the drift of oxygen ions from the CeO_x layer, attracted by the electric field to the breakdown spot. Once the spot is re-oxidized, the current suddenly drops yet leaving the leakage current through initial traps as background. In the set process, the recovered part in the spot can be broken again with positive voltage application with a relatively low voltage, as a high density of defects can be considered to be located in the specific spots. For the RTO-treated device, on the other hand, owing to higher insulating properties of the thin SiO₂-IL with less number of initial traps, a higher voltage is needed to generate traps, building up the traps to configure the percolation path, and to reach the critical defect density [4.7 -4.9].

To avoid catastrophic destruction of the film due to power dissipation to local spots, a smaller CC needs to be applied [4.6]. The reset process is considered to be performed in the same way as the trap-rich SiO₂ film case, except for low background leakage current, that is, high resistance in HRS. The proposed model suggests that the high resistance in the HRS can be achieved with small numbers of initial traps in the

SiO₂-IL in combination with smaller CC. And also the resistance at LRS is not affected by the value of CC. This fact is different from the conventional filament-model based resistive switching, where smaller CC results in higher resistance for LRS [4.10].



Figure 4.7 I-V characteristics of CeO_x layer on a low-temperature-oxidized p^+ -Si BE.

Gray lines show I-V characteristics without oxidation



Figure 4.8 Schematic illustration of an SiO₂-IL with large numbers of initial traps



Figure 4.9 Schematic illustration of an SiO₂-IL with less initial traps

An SiO₂-IL with large number of traps relatively requires high CC to form breakdown spots for the forming process, and background leakage current limits the resistive change after the local anodic oxidation of the breakdown spots. With an SiO₂-IL with less initial traps, the breakdown spot should be carefully formed using smaller CC. Owing to the suppressed background leakage current, higher resistance at HRS can be obtained.

4.4 Summary of This Chapter

A robust operation mechanism to increase the on/off ratio of ReRAM device was investigated. High on/off ratio > 10^3 was obtained by utilizing Si contains BE. For p^+ -Si BE, the on/off ratio was modelled by the initial number of traps of the SiO₂ interfacial layer. The proposed model suggests that higher resistance in the HRS can be achieved with smaller numbers of initial traps in the SiO₂-IL in combination with smaller CC. Moreover, a new switching mechanism using breakdown and anodic re-oxidation phenomena is confirmed.

4.5 References

- [4.1] Robertson J, "Interface and defects of high-k oxides on silicon", Solid-State Electron., 49(3), 283, (2005).
- [4.2] M. Mamatrishat, M. Kouda, K. Kakushima, H. Nohira, P. Ahmet, Y. Kataoka, A. Nishiyama, K. Tsutsui, N. Sugii, K. Natori, T. Hattori, and H. Iwai, "Valence number transition and silicate formation of cerium oxide films on Si(100)", Vacuum, Vol. 86, pp. 1513-1516 (2012).
- [4.3] C. Dou, K. Kakushima, P. Ahmet, K. Tsutsui, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, K. Natori,
 T. Hattori, and H. Iwai, "Resistive switching behavior of a CeO₂ based ReRAM cell incorporated with Si", Microelectron. Reliab., Vol. 52 pp. 688-691, (2012).
- [4.4] D. Stievenard, "Nanooxidation using a scanning probe microscope: An analytical model based on field induced oxidation", Appl. Phys. Lett., Vol. 70, pp. 3272-3274, (1997).
- [4.5] H. S. Momose, T. Ohguro, T. Yoshitomi, E. Morifuji, T. Morimoto, Y. Katsumata and H. Iwai, "Study of the manufacturing feasibility of 1.5-nm direct-tunneling gate oxide MOSFETs: uniformity, reliability, and dopant penetration of the gate oxide", IEEE Trans. ED, Vol. 45, pp. 691-700 (1998).

- [4.6] T. Tomita, H. Utsunomiya, T. Sakura, Y. Kamakura, and K. Taniguchi, "A new soft breakdown model for thin thermal SiO₂ films under constant current stress", IEEE Trans. ED, Vol. 46, pp. 159-164, (1999).
- [4.7] R. Degraeve, G. Groeseneken, R. Bellens, M. Depas, and H. E. Maes, "A consistent model for the thickness dependence of intrinsic breakdown in ultrathin oxides", in IEDM Tech. Dig., 1995, pp. 863–866, (1995).
- [4.8] M. A. Alam, B.E. Weir, and P. J. Silverman, "A study of soft and hard Breakdown—Part II: principles of area, thickness, and voltage scaling", IEEE Trans. ED, Vol. 49, pp. 232-238, (2002).
- [4.9] S. Lombardo, J. H. Stathis, and B. P. Linder, "Breakdown Transients in Ultrathin Gate Oxides: Transition in the Degradation Rate", Phys. Rev. Lett., Vol. 90, pp. 167601, (2003).
- [4.10] A. Chen, "Switching control of resistive switching devices", Appl. Phys. Lett., Vol. 97, 263505, (2010).
- [4.11] L. W. Feng, C. Y. Chang, Y. F. Chang, T. C. Chang, S. Y. Wang, S. C. Chen, C.C. Lin, S. C. Chen and P. W. Chiang, "Improvement of resistance switching

characteristics in a thin FeO_x transition layer of TiN/SiO2/FeOx/FePt structure by rapid annealing", App. Phys. Lett., vol. 96, pp. 22108, (2010).

Chapter 5

Forming-free Resistive Switching Memory Device with CeO_x Layer on NiSi₂ BE

5.1 Introduction

Resistive memory has attracted a great attention as a new generation of non-volatile memories, owing to low voltage and fast operation with excellent retention properties [5.1]. Based on the conductive-filament model, switching mechanism of ReRAM are determined by the annihilation and creation of the oxygen vacancies at the tip of filaments within the oxides, which is commonly created during the initial forming process [5.7]. The on/off ratio is strongly dependent on the forming process, and is sensitive to the compliance current as it determines the size of the filaments [5.3]. Forming-free devices have been presented using defect-rich AION at the cost of on/off ratio [5.2].

Resistive memory utilizing CeO_x layer as a buffer layer and p^+ -Si BE is confirmed to have high on/off ratio, as mentioned in Chapter 4. Despite its high on/off ratio, the memory cell needs a forming voltage application to initiate the switching process. In this chapter, a proposal of forming free, high on/off ratio, and fast operation using a laminated structure of a thin SiO_2 layer with CeO_x buffer layer and silicide bottom electrode is discussed. NiSi₂ was selected as a bottom electrode (BE) as very thin-SiO₂layer can be easily created and out-diffusion of Ni atom is suppressed [5.4].

5.2 Device Fabrication Process

The basic device fabrication flow, used to to process ReRAM devices with CeO_x buffer layer, is illustrated in Figure 5.1. A 200-nm-thick SiO₂ layer was formed on p^+ -Si substrate with an impurity concentration of 10¹⁸ cm⁻³ by thermal oxidation. The SiO₂ layer was lithographically patterned by wet etching to form contact between bottom electrode and substrate. Then bottom electrode layer was deposited on the SiO₂ layer by rf sputtering. To form 14.4-nm-thick NiSi₂ bottom electrode, six cycles of Ni/Si layer in-situ deposition consisting of Ni (0.5nm) and Si (1.9nm) each was annealed in nitrogen ambient for 1 minute at 500°C to promote the reaction of Ni and Si atoms, see Figure 5.2. For a buffer layer, a CeO_x film was deposited by the electron-beam evaporation at 300°C, followed by in-situ deposition of 50-nm-thick tungsten by rf sputtering as a device top electrode. The top electrode was then patterned by the reactive ion etching (RIE) with SF₆ chemistry. Patterned W top electrodes (TE) with an

area of (20×20) μ m² were used to measure electrical properties of the device. Lastly, an Al film was deposited as a backside contact. For I-V curve characterization, a ramp voltage 0.05V/step ranging from -10V to + 10V was applied, using sweeping time of 640 μ s. I-V curve measurement setup is shown in Figure 5.3. The CC was set ranging from 100 μ A to 2mA, which was carefully adjusted to give the highest switching properties in terms of on/off ratio. As the switching layer is thin low-k layer, too large CC set must be avoided in order to avoid device damage due to catastrophic breakdown.



Figure 5.1 Fabrication process of W/CeO_x/SiO₂/NiSi₂ structure ReRAM



Figure 5.2 NiSi₂ bottom electrode formation by annealing process



Figure 5.3 Measurement setup for I-V curve characterization

5.3 Resistive Switching Behavior

Figure 5.4 shows the current-voltage (I-V) characteristics of devices with 13.5-nm-thick CeO_x and NiSi₂ BE. Initial positive voltage sweep application to TE, indicated as 1^{st} in the figure, showed a small breakdown behavior at 7.5 V and then the

current was limited by compliance current, set to 2 mA, until the voltage is swept back to 3.5 V. This strongly suggests that the device has changed the states from HRS to LRS. Second voltage sweep to negative direction without a current compliance showed a sudden decrease in current, indicating a bipolar switching type behavior from LRS to HRS. The current of the third positive voltage application showed identical current trace to the initial current behavior. This strongly suggests that a forming-free resistive switching was achieved. The extracted resistance ratio of 6×10^5 is considerably high compared to reported resistive switching devices.

The I-V characteristics of the device with initial voltage application swept to negative direction is shown in Figure 5.4(b). No jump in current was observed for the initial sweep. The 2^{nd} sweep to positive direction showed a small jump in current at 6 V and after that the current was limited to compliance. The 3^{rd} sweep to negative direction showed a drastic decrease in current at -3.5 V, and followed the current kept as small as the initial sweep. The 4^{th} sweep to positive direction followed the same current track as the 2^{nd} sweep, only with a slight difference in breakdown behavior to reach the current compliance. Therefore, it can be concluded that the device has a polarity; set process can only be obtained by positive bias and reset process by negative bias.

Transmission electron microscope (TEM) image of the device is shown in Figure 5.4(c), where a clear SiO₂ layer with a thickness of 1.5 nm can be observed between the CeO_x and NiSi₂ layers, reactively formed due to the catalytic effect of CeO_x [5.5]. As the dielectric constant of CeO_x is 28, 7 times higher than that of SiO₂, the electric field in the thin SiO₂ layer is 7 times higher than that of CeO_x layer. Therefore, high electric field can easily induce local breakdown to the thin SiO₂ layer. As SiO₂ has good insulator properties, local breakdown in this layer dramatically reduces the resistance between TE and BE. For reset process, the contribution of oxygen ions in the CeO_x layer can be the source to anodically re-oxidize the breakdown spot in the thin SiO₂ layer, in the same way that metals can be oxidized by scanning probe microscopy.



Figure 5.4 I-V curves of the device with NiSi₂ bottom electrode
The I-V characteristics of devices with TiN BE are shown in Fig.5.5 (a). Only a positive initial voltage sweep showed resistive switching behavior. Also, a slight decrease in current only by one half was observed with a 2^{nd} negative voltage sweep, in contrast to the case for NiSi₂ and p^+ -Si BEs. The 3^{rd} voltage application to positive direction did not follow the 1^{st} sweep; higher current by two orders of magnitudes. Here, only a resistance ratio of 67 was obtained. A TEM image of the sample, shown in Figure 5.5 (b), revealed a 1-nm-thick amorphous TiO_x layer between TiN and CeOx layers. Due to the high dielectric constant of TiO_x more than 40, the electric field in the layer, which is smaller than CeOx, cannot induce local breakdown. Therefore, together with forming process with a small resistance window, the switching behavior can be considered to follow the conductive filament model.



Figure 5.5 I-V curves of the device with TiN Bottom Electrode

5.4 Resistive Switching Mechanism

A model to explain the obtained switching behavior of W/CeO_x/SiO₂/NiSi₂ structure is shown in Figure 5.6. Owing to the buffer CeO_x layer, high electric field induces breakdown to the thin SiO₂ layer during the set process (+V). The layer also prompts the anodic re-oxidation by oxygen ion diffusion to the breakdown spot from CeO_x layer with a reverse voltage application (-V). The resistance of HRS is determined by the excellent insulating properties of SiO₂. For set-process, high electric field induces a breakdown to the thin SiO₂, due to the low dielectric constant (k~4), to change the state to LRS. For reset-process, oxygen ions from CeO_x layer induce local anodic oxidation of the breakdown spot to create SiO₂ and change the state to HRS.



Figure 5.6 Resistive switching mechanism in W/CeO_x/SiO₂/NiSi₂ ReRAM

The forming free behavior remaining high on/off resistance ratio of ReRAM with NiSi₂ BE is possibly due to there is a Ni⁺ contaminant in the CeO_x layer, as illustrated in Figure 5.7, that will simultaneously decrease the resistance in LRS on the other hand increase the oxygen ionic conductivity of CeO_x. Oxygen ion conducts fast in the lattice and conducts slow in grain boundary is reported [5.9]. This suggests that lowering grain boundary in an oxide material by adding trivalent dopants, higher oxygen ionic conductivity can be achieved [5.10-5.11]. Increase of the CeO_x buffer

layer oxygen ionic conductivity makes anodic re-oxidation process is able to perfectly recover the breakdown spot in the thin SiO₂ layer.



Figure 5.7. Fresh sample illustration for W/CeOx/SiO2/NiSi2 structure ReRAM

5.5 CeOx Thickness Dependent on Set Voltage

In order to clarify the proposed model that set process is based on breakdown process, the high-k layer thickness dependence on set voltage is measured. Figure 5.9 shows the I-V characteristics of devices of NiSi₂ BE with different CeO_x layer thickness, where one can observe an increase in V_{set} with the thicker CeO_x layer. V_{set} dependency on t_{CeOx} can be well modeled, by a simple model of breakdown mechanism, as described in Chapter 2. By thinning the thickness of the high-k layer, the applied voltage decrease. With constant displacement throughout the bi-layer:

$$k_{SiO2}E_{SiO2} = k_{CeOx}E_{CeOx}$$
 5.1

Where k_{SiO2} and k_{CeOx} is the dielectric constant of SiO₂ and CeO_x respectively. while E_{SiO2} , and E_{CeOx} is the electric field across each layer. The applied voltage can be expressed with equation:

$$V_{app} = E_{SiO2}t_{SiO2} + E_{CeOx}t_{CeOx}$$
5.2

Using breakdown electric field of 16 MV/cm, the set voltage obey equation 5.3:

$$V_{\text{set}} = E_{BD}^{SiO2} \left(t_{SiO2} + \frac{k_{SiO2}}{k_{CeOx}} t_{CeOx} \right)$$
5.3

The E_{BD} of SiO₂ is known to increase when the thickness is less than 10 nm and can exceed 15 MV/cm [5.8]. Here, the thickness of t_{SiO2} is fixed to 1.5 nm, obtained from TEM image shown in figure 5.4(c), so that V_{set} depends only on the thickness of t_{CeOx} .



Figure 5.8 Parameter for set process in W/CeOx/SiO2/NiSi2 ReRAM



Figure 5.9 V_{set} dependent on CeO_x thickness

Using equation 5.1 - 5.3, CeO_x thickness dependency on set voltage can be plotted as shown in Figure 5.10. Assuming the breakdown field of SiO₂ layer is 16MV/cm, the experimental data can be well fitted the model. This indicates clear evidence that the set process is due the breakdown of the SiO₂ layer.



Figure 5.10 Model for set process on CeOx thickness dependence

5.6 Effect of The Thin SiO₂-IL Processes on Switching Characteristics

After sputter deposition of NiSi2, annealing was conducted in 5%-O2 ambient at either 500 or 650 °C for 1 minute to form a SiO₂ layer at the surface of BEs. No degradation in surface morphology was confirmed. The rest of the process, including the CeO_x deposition and the W TE formation went through identical processes. Here a device without annealing was also fabricated. Figure 5.11 shows I-V characteristics of the fabricated devices. The device with NiSi2 BE without annealing, shown in Figure 5.11(a), showed almost the same switching behavior as those annealed at 500 $^{\circ}$ C in N₂. When annealed in oxygen ambient, as shown in Figure 5.11(b) and (c), a slight change in the current of the first voltage sweep to the third one (set process) was observed, which could be understood from the change in the physical properties of SiO₂-IL, as was discussed in the previous section. The CC that is required for exhibiting the switching behavior can be decreased by the improvement in the SiO₂ interface layer, and also smaller current can be obtained after reset process, resulting in higher on/off ratio. Figure 5.11(d) shows the relationship between CC and on/off ratio, showing that the smaller the CC is, the higher the on/off ratio becomes. Therefore, the same conclusion as the device with p^+ -Si BE can be derived where an SiO₂-IL with low trap density can improve the on/off ratio.



Figure 5.11 I-V characteristics of CeO_x layer on NiSi₂ BE. Different thermal treatments were performed for NiSi₂ formation; (a) without annealing, (b) 500°C in 5%-O₂, (c) 650°C in 5%-O₂. (d) Summary of CC and HRS/LRS ratio depending on annealing conditions.

5.7 Summary of This Chapter

Resistive switching characteristics of CeO_x layer on Si-based BEs have been investigated. Owing to the presence of a thin SiO₂-IL between the CeO_x layer and BE, the set process is considered to be triggered by a local breakdown at the thin SiO_2 -IL due to large contrast in dielectric constants. Reset process, on the other hand, is obtained by a local anodic oxidation at the breakdown spots caused oxygen ion drift from the CeO_x layer. Moreover, with NiSi₂ BE, ReRAM device with forming-free feature was achieved. This means that BE selection is important for eliminating the forming process. Based on breakdown model, lower set voltage can be achieved by thinning the CeO_x layer.

5.8 References

- [5.1] L. Goux, R. Degraeve, B. Govoreanu, H. Y. Chou, V. V. Afanas'ev, J. Meersschaut, M. Toeller, X. P. Wang, "Evidences of anodic-oxidation reset mechanism in TiN/NiO/Ni RRAM cells", VLSI symp. tech., p. 24, (2011).
- [5.2] W. Kim, S. I. Park, Z. Zhang, Y. Yang-Liauw, D. Sekar, H. P. Wong, S. S. Wong, "Forming-free nitrogen-doped AlOx RRAM with Sub-mA programming current", VLSI, pp. 22-23, (2011).
- [5.3] W. H. Liu, K. L. Pey, X. Li, M. Bosman,"Observation of switching behaviors in post-breakdown conduction in NiSi-gated stacks", IEDM, p. 135, (2009).
- [5.4] W. J. Strydom, J. C. Lombaard, R. Pretorius,"The anodic oxidation of the silicides CoSi₂, CrSi₂, NiSi₂, PtSi, TiSi₂ and ZrSi₂", Solid-State Electronics., 30, p. 947, (1987).
- [5.6] L. Tye, N. A. El-Masryl, T. Chikyow, P. McLarty and S. M. Bedair, "Electrical characteristics of epitaxial CeO₂ on Si(111)", Appl. Phys. Lett. 65, p 3081, (1994).

- [5.7] H. S. P. Wong, H. Y. Lee, S. Yu,Y. S. Chen, Y. Wu, P. S. Chen, B. Lee, F. T. Chen, and M. J. Tsai, "Metal oxide RRAM", J. IEEE, Vol. 100, No. 6, p. 1951 1970, Jun., (2012).
- [5.8] Y. Taur, T. H. Ning, "Fundamentals of modern VLSI devices", Cambridge, University Press, p. 101, (1998).
- [5.9] R. G. Anderson, S. Nowick, "Grain-boundary effect in ceria doped with trivalent cation: I, electrical measurements", J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 69, pp. 641, (1986).
- [5.10] R. G. Anderson, S. Nowick, "Ionic conductivity of CeO₂ with trivalent dopant ionic radii", Solid State Ionics, 5, 547-550 (1981).
- [5.11] S. Thevuthasan, S. Azad, O. A. Marina, V. Shutthanandan, D. E. McCready, L. Saraf, C. M. Wang, I. Lyubinetsky, C. H. F. Peden, "Influence of Multiple interfaces on oxygen ionic conductivity in gadolinia-doped single crystal oxide electrolyte multi-layer nano films", 3rd IEEE-NANO, pp. 550-552, (2003).

Chapter 6

Time Dependent Analysis of W/CeOx/SiO₂/NiSi₂ ReRAM Structure

6.1 Introduction

The switching mechanism of the proposed ReRAM structure with CeO_x buffer layer on NiSi₂ BE, that is discussed in Chapter 5, exhibits a different switching behavior with excellent device features such as high on/off resistance ratio without the need of he electroforming process to initiate the switching. For the set process, localized breakdown electric field in the SiO₂ layer is responsible for resistance change from HRS to LRS, while for the reset process anodic re-oxidation of NiSi₂ BE to recover the breakdown spot is responsible for resistance change from LRS. It was also confirmed that by thinning the CeOx layer, the set voltage can be suppressed <3V for a device with 2.5-nm-thick CeO_xbuffer layer. However, additional strong evidence to show the validity of the proposed model of this new ReRAM is necessary.

In this chapter, transient response current of both set and reset process is investigated to show the current behavior with different voltage levels that is applied during the set and reset processes. Moreover, other device key features, that is, switching speed and endurance, are also discussed.

6.2 Transient Response Current at Set Process

Transient response current of the proposed ReRAM device with 7.5-nm-thick CeO_x buffer layer is shown in Figure 6.1. Various voltages with different amplitudes, which is lower than the device set voltage, are applied to the TE of memory device. Then current responses with time correspond to the applied voltage are plotted. It was found that lower applied voltage increases time to breakdown. When the voltage of +4.70V was applied, the currents abruptly increased due to the breakdown of the SiO₂ layer. Under the high electric field >10 MV/cm, the oxygen atoms are knocked out of the lattice [6.1], and drift toward the CeO_x buffer layer. The localized deficiency of oxygen leads to the formation of oxygen vacancies [6.2]. For higher applied voltage, defects in the bulk oxide are generated simultaneously. Figure 6.2 shows time to breakdown as a function of applied voltage. The time to breakdown decreased with increasing the applied voltage. In addition to the result in Chapter 5, the results indicate that the set process can be reasonably understood by the breakdown model.



Figure 6.1 Transient response of current at set process with various voltages.



Figure 6.2 Time to breakdown dependent on applied voltage

6.3 Transient Response Current at Reset Process

Using the same sample with that in the previous section, transient response of current in the reset process was investigated to elucidate the proposed mechanisms. Figure 6.3 shows the transient response of current in the reset process with various voltages. The gradual decrease in current under constant voltage (V_{stress}) application indicates a gradual decrease in the size of the breakdown spot and once SiO₂ is grown enough the current drops to HRS.

Time to change in resistance was increased with decreasing the voltage. Applying high voltage can increase in the ionic conductivity and hence interfacial SiO_2 layer can be immediately re-oxidized, resulting in higher resistance. On the other hand, it takes long time for the reset process at a lower voltage because oxidation time becomes larger. It is worth noting that at V_{stress} of -1.8V, discrete current values were observed. Extended figure of V_{stress} set -1.8V is shown in Figure 6.4. It is considered that SiO₂ was re-oxidized each single layer at the breakdown spot by local anodic oxidation. This reflects that the current exhibited discrete values.



Figure 6.3 Time dependence of operation voltage in reset process



Figure 6.4 Extended figure of time dependence when reset voltage set -1.8V

Resistance steeply changes to the next resistance state when the SiO₂ single layer in breakdown spot was formed. Histogram of conductance when steady voltage was applied to the device is shown in Figure 6.5. Steady voltages were set at -1.65 ~ -1.2V. Four peaks are confirmed in the histogram. SiO₂ thickness is confirmed as $1.5 \sim$ 2.0-nm by TEM image. Therefore, four layers of SiO₂ exist at CeO_x/NiSi₂ interface. And this produces discrete values of current. Fluctuations of current exist in the local anodic re-oxidation in Figure 6.5. It is considered that fluctuations are due to the reparation and breaking of SiO₂ existing in the reset process.



Figure 6.5 Histogram of conductance in re-oxidation process

Time of resistance back in the initial state is dependent on the balance of oxygen ion migration to oxidize Si atoms [6.3] and electron impacts to break the created Si-O bondings [6.4], which is advantageous for large read-out margin. The model of local anodic oxidation SiO₂ breakdown spot is shown in Fig. 6.6. Fluctuations of current exist in Fig. 6.5 are caused by the competition of SiO₂ formation by the anodic re-oxidation and dissociation by electron bombardment.



breakdown spot

2. SiO₂ dissociation by electron bombard

Figure 6.6 Model of local anodic oxidation SiO₂ breakdown spot

6.4 Device Operating Speed Characteristic

A memory device with 6.5-nm-thick CeO_x buffer layer on NiSi₂ BE was used to investigate the device operating speed. As the set and reset voltages, the applied voltage with an amplitude of +4.4V and -3.3V, respectively, were used. Resistive switching rate with different pulse width confirms no degradation in the on/off ratio of >10⁴ at least 200nsec (limited by the measurement setup), as shown in Figure 6.7. This result indicates that the breakdown and re-oxidationcan be reliably processed in a short period and this delay time is an applicable level for the storage class memory.



Figure 6.7 Device operating switching speed measurement

6.5 Device Endurance Characteristic

As mentioned in Chapter 2, the ReRAM device endurance properties indicate maximum number of switching cycle can be performed until the switching failure happen. By using the same sample as the operating speed measurement, device endurance was also investigated. Cyclic switching endurance showed a stable on/off ratio of $\sim 10^3$ with small spread for both HRS and LRS at least for 200 cycles (without verification voltage).



Figure 6.8 ReRAM device endurance characteristic

6.6 Summary of This Chapter

The proposed model of the set and reset switching has reconfirmed using the transient response current measurement both in the set and reset processes. The results indicate that the set and reset process can be reasonably understood by the breakdown and anodic re-oxidation model, respectively. Discrete value of current was observed in the case of low reset voltage. Fluctuations of current are caused by two simultaneous reactions, SiO₂ formation by anodic re-oxidation and dissociation by current bombardment. For the high reset voltage case, anodic re-oxidation is a dominant factor. Operating speed of <200 ns and device endurance characteristic at least stable for 200 cycles, even without verification voltage, indicates a good device property that is great potential to be used for SCM applications.

6.7 References

- [6.1] H. S. P. Wong, H. Y. Lee, S. Yu,Y.S. Chen, Y. Wu, P. S. Chen, B. Lee, F. T. Chen, and M. J. Tsai, "Metal oxide RRAM", J. IEEE, Vol. 100, No. 6, pp. 1951-1970, Jun., (2012).
- [6.2] M. Janousch, G. I. Meijer, U. Staub, B. Delley, S. F. Karg, and B. P. Andreasson, "Role of oxygen vacancies in Cr-doped SrTiO₃ for resistance-change memory", Adv.Mater., vol. 19, pp. 2232–2235, Sep., (2007).
- [6.3] T. Nagata, M. Haemori, Y. Yamashita, H. Yoshikawa, Y. Iwashita, "Oxygen migration at Pt/HfO₂/Pt interface under bias operation", Appl. Phys. Lett., 97, pp. 082902, (2010).
- [6.4] C. H. Tung, K. Pey, L. Tang, M. K. Radhakrishnan, W. Lin, "Percolation path and dielectric breakdown induce depitaxy evolution during ultra thin gate dielectric breakdown transient", Appl. Phys. Lett., 83, p.2223, (2003).

Chapter 7 Conclusion

7.1 Summary of This Thesis

In this thesis, a systematic investigation is described on a new resistive switching memory by introducing a new switching concept in order to eliminate the forming process in a simple way. Unlike the conventional ReRAM model, that has a tradeoff between eliminating the forming process and small on/off resistance ratio,the proposed ReRAM exhibited forming free behavior while the on/off ratio is high $\sim 10^6$ for a device with 6.5-nm-thick CeO_x on NiSi₂ BE.

The bi-layer structure with high-k material as a buffer layer and thin low-k material as a switching layer is proposed in this study. The role of BE material is described as material that contributes to the formation of desired thin low-k layer. For the set process, high-k buffer layer is responsible for inducing localized breakdown in the thin low-k layer, based on its large difference in dielectric contrast between high-k layer and low-k layer. Higher the dielectric contrast lowers the set voltage. During the breakdown process in the low-k layer, oxygen ion drifts from the thin low-k layer to the buffer high-k layer and the resistance changes from HRS to LRS. In the reset process,

the buffer high-k layer is responsible as an oxygen reservoir. Oxygen ion in the buffer high-k layer drifts back to the low-k layer to trigger anodic re-oxidation, and the resistance state changes from LRS to HRS.

In chapter 3, the effect of BE material discussed. Using CeO_x as a buffer high-k layer material, the switching behavior exhibited differently depending on the BE material. The result revealed that the forming free property depends on the interfacial layer between the buffer layer and BE, and that higher on-state resistance owes to the CeO_x buffer layer property. Bottom electrode selection thus, plays an important role for the entire switching characteristic of the ReRAM device. The discussion strongly suggested that using the bottom electrode contains silicon is promising for high on/off ratio without the forming process because this structure can form thin SiO₂ as low-k interface layer. T

In Chapter 4, the structure of p^+ -Si BE on CeO_x buffer layer is investigated. Rapid thermal oxidation improved the quality of the interfacial layer between the p+-Si BE and the CeO_x buffer layer, and high on/off exhibited with a low constant current set process. The on/off ratio of >10³ was achieved due to the formation of high quality SiO₂ interfacial layer. In Chapter 5, the structure with NiSi₂ BE on CeO_x buffer layer is investigated. Due to the very thin (1.5-nm-thick) SiO₂ formation and insulating property improvement by the rapid thermal annealing, the device exhibited very high on/off ratio of $\sim 10^6$ without a need of the forming process.

In Chapter 6, transient response current at the set and reset processes is discussed. The results were in good agreement with the proposed model of ReRAM operation in this study. Device switching speed of about 200 ns, and endurance characteristic longer than 200 cycles were confirmed. These results indicate that the proposed ReRAM structure and mechanism are suitable for the storage class memory application.

In Chapter 7, the results of this study are summarized and discussed on the items of the future research in order to further improve the device properties. For the embedded memory applications, thinner buffer high-k layer is more suitable while for the storage applications, thicker buffer high-k layer will be desirable.

7.2 Future Research Recommendation

The device performance of this study is compared to other reported results as shown in Fig. 7.1. The on/off ratio of this study is the best among the all reported ReRAM data with forming free behavior. While the programming voltage of 5V, in this study, indicates that it will be suitable for the battery driven application. However, further improvement can be performed in order to optimize the device performance for wide variety applications of SCM.



Figure 7.1 Position of this study, compared to other ReRAM with forming free

Suitable structures in terms of device optimization for various applications are summarized in Figure 7.2, based on the discussion in Chapter 5. By fabricating thin CeO_x layer the programming voltage can be suppressed. This is because the SiO₂ IL, which is formed due to the catalytic reaction during CeO_x deposition on NiSi₂ BE, is dependent on the CeO_x layer thickness. Thinning CeOx buffer layer therefore will not only suppress the programming voltage but also reduce the on/off ratio.



Figure 7.2 Model for device optimization recommendation

As described in Chapter 2, a thick interface layer will have a benefit for multi level cell (MLC) operation, where more bits can be applied in one memory cell. Thicker SiO₂ layer means, more resistance level can be generated, which also means the more bit number can be generated. Higher bit number in a single memory cell means higher device density. The trade off between lower operation voltage and multi level function will be a tough issue, though.

In terms of increasing the device switching speed, preparing the buffer high-k layer material, that has higher oxygen ionic conductivity, higher k-value and narrower band gap energy than CeO_x, will be important. Both higher electron and oxygen ion conduction in the buffer layer will be desirable for lower on-state resistance and higher endurance (recovery of defects in the SiO₂ layer), respectively. Control of poly grain structure may increase the electron conductivity. Valence control of the CeO_x layer such as the addition of trivalent dopants will contribute to higher ion conductivity. In addition, as mentioned in Chapters 4 and 5 that the insulating property of low-k layer can be improved by BE annealing, which can increase the on/off ratio.

Further investigation of other device key characteristics such as retention time, and device scalability is necessary to be carried out. The scaling limit of this device is predicted to be the size of breakdown spot. For device of very small size, the breakdown spot can be localized in one location. Its scaling limit thus will be determined by the size of the breakdown spot in the low-k layer.

List of Publications and Presentations

Papers

- Refereed:
- [1] M. Hadi, S. Kano, K. Kakushima, Y. Kataoka, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, H. Wakabayashi, K. Tsutsui, K. Natori, and H. Iwai, "A resistive switching device based on breakdown and anodic reoxidization of thin SiO₂ on Si-based electrodes using CeO_x buffer layer", Semiconductor Science and Technology, vol. 29, 115030, 2014.
- [2] <u>M. Hadi</u>, N. Sugii, H. Wakabayashi, K. Tsutsui, H. Iwai, K. Kakushima, "Resistive switching properties of CeO_x buffer layer on n⁺ and p⁺Si bottom electrodes", Microelectronics Reliability, vol. 63, pp. 42-45, 2016.
- Non-refereed:
- [1] S. Kano, C. Dou, <u>M. Hadi</u>, K. Kakushima, P. Ahmet, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, K. Tsutsui, Y. Kataoka, K. Natori, E. Miranda, T. Hattori and H. Iwai. "Influence of electrode material for CeO_x based resistive switching". ECS Trans. Vol. 44, issued: 1, 439-443. 2012.

International Conference

- [1] M. S. Hadi, S. Kano, C. Dou, K. Kakushima, P. Ahmet, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, K. Tsutsui, K. Natori, T. Hattori, H. Iwai. "A study on resistive memory based on breakdown and anodic reoxidation of thin SiO₂ on NiSi₂ electrode with CeO_x buffer layer". IEEE EDS WIMNACT-39, February, 2014.
- [2] M. S. Hadi, S. Kano, C. Dou, K. Kakushima, P. Ahmet, Y. Kataoka, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, H. Wakabayashi, K. Tsutsui, K. Natori, H. Iwai. "A proposal of a forming-free resistive switching memory based on breakdown and anodic reoxidization of thin SiO₂ on NiSi₂ electrode using CeO_x buffer layer". SSDM, Fukuoka, September, 2013.
- [3] <u>M. S. Hadi,</u> S. Kano, C. Dou, K. Kakushima, P. Ahmet, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, K. Tsutsui, K. Natori, E. Miranda, T. Hattori, H. Iwai. "Resistive switching device using Ce-oxide with Ni-silicide electrodes". IEEE EDS WIMNACT-37, February 2013.
- [4] S. Kano, C. Dou, <u>M. Hadi, K. Kakushima, P. Ahmet, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, K. Tsutsui, K. Natori, T. Hattori, H. Iwai. "Transient switching characteristics of Ce-oxide/Ni-silicide resistive switching devices". IEEE EDS WIMNACT-37, February 2013.</u>

[5] S. Kano, C. Dou, <u>M. Hadi</u>, K. Kakushima, P. Ahmet, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, K. Tsutsui, K. Natori, T. Hattori, H. Iwai, "Impact of metal electrode material on resistive switching properties of Ce oxides", G-COE PICE international symposium and IEEE EDS mini colloquium on Advanced Hybrid Nano Devices: Prospects by World's Leading Scientists. Tokyo Institute of Technology, Japan, October 4-5, 2011.

Domestic Conference

- [1] S. Kano, C. Dou, <u>M. Hadi</u>. K. Kakushima, P. Ahmet, Y. Kataoka, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, K. Tsutsui, K. Natori, T. Hattori, H. Iwai. "Resistance switching characteristics of W/CeO_x/NiSi₂ structure ReRAM", 60th JSAP spring meeting, 2013.
- [2] S. Kano, <u>M. Hadi</u>, C. Dou, K, K. Kakushima, P. Ahmet, K. Tsutsui, A. Nishiyama, N. Sugii, K. Natori, T. Hattori, H. Iwai. "Resistance switching characteristics of CeO_x MIM structures", 72nd JSAP fall meeting, 2012.